## Bucknell University Bucknell Digital Commons

#### Master's Theses

**Student Theses** 

2013

# Effective Length K-Factors For Flexural Buckling Strengths Of Web Members In Open Web Steel Joists

Sugyu Lee Bucknell University, sgl011@bucknell.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.bucknell.edu/masters\_theses

#### **Recommended** Citation

Lee, Sugyu, "Effective Length K-Factors For Flexural Buckling Strengths Of Web Members In Open Web Steel Joists" (2013). *Master's Theses*. 100. https://digitalcommons.bucknell.edu/masters\_theses/100

This Masters Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Theses at Bucknell Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Bucknell Digital Commons. For more information, please contact dcadmin@bucknell.edu.

(This page left blank intentionally)

#### EFFECTIVE LENGTH K-FACTORS FOR FLEXURAL BUCKLING STRENGTHS OF WEB MEMBERS IN OPEN WEB STEEL JOISTS

By

Sugyu Lee

A Master's Thesis

Presented to the Faculty of **Bucknell University** In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Civil Engineering

Approved:

Adviser: Ronald D. Ziemian, Ph.D., P.E.

Department Chairperson: Thomas D. DiStefano, Ph.D., P.E.

Committee Member: James G. Orbison, Ph.D., P.E.

Committee Member: Kelly A. Salyards, Ph.D., P.E.

2013

Date: Month and Year)

I, Sugyu Lee, do grant permission for my thesis to be copied.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very honored to have had the opportunity to attend Bucknell University and I wish to thank many people for their helpful assistance and sincere consideration.

Most of all, my sincere thanks goes to Dr. Ronald D. Ziemian for his teaching, constant guidance, and kind care throughout my two years at Bucknell University. His encouragement and faith in me provided the confidence and motivation I needed to complete the Master of Science degree program. It is a particular pleasure for me to have worked with him on this research related to the stability of steel joists.

I thank the members of my thesis committee, Dr. Kelly A. Salyards and Dr. James G. Orbison, for their advice and constructive criticism of this thesis.

I am grateful to Dr. Ki-nam Hong for constant encouragement and well wishes. My gratitude goes to Dr. Kim's and Dr. Ganahls' families, who have provided me much appreciated support and helped me adapt to many new circumstances. I deeply thank Bucknell alumni Dong-woo Seo and Seungchul Yeom for listening to my woes and giving great advice.

I would also like to thank to my friends who have supported and believed in me. I especially recognize Min-hui Lee, Saeng-soo Kim, Woo-hyeok Choi, Jung-sub, Ban for giving me strength.

Finally, I am sincerely grateful to my parents, older sister, and brother in-law for the inspiration they have given me and for being wonderful role models. Thanks to their love, faith, and invaluable support, I was able to endure and overcome the hardships of the past two years.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	X
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Objective	4
1.2 Research Method	4
1.3 Thesis Overview	7
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND	8
2.1 Flexural Buckling Strengths by Elastic Critical Load Analysis	8
2.2 The Effective Length Factor	10
2.3 Alignment Charts	12
2.4 Open Web Steel Joists	17
2.5 Recent Research Related to K-factors of Web Members	19
2.6 In-plane Buckling and Out-of-plane Buckling	20
CHAPTER 3: DERIVATION OF THE KEY STIFFNESS EXPRESSIONS USED CALCULATION METHOD	IN HAND
3.1 Induced Compressive Strains - Simple Frame Study	21
3.2 Using Induced Compressive Strains to compute <i>K</i> -factors in Steel Joists	25
3.3 Use of Alignment Charts to Compute <i>K</i> -factors for Web Members	29
3.3.1 Stiffness Equation for Using Alignment Chart in Joists	29
3.3.2 Closed-Form Expressions for Computing Stiffness G Values	32
3.4 Method for Confirming Stiffness Equations	

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS OF K-FACTOR STUDIES	40
4.1 18K3 Joist	41
4.1.1 Comparison of <i>K</i> -factors for In-Plane Buckling	42
4.1.1.1 Web members buckling individually	
4.1.1.1.1 Results of Hand Calculation Method	
4.1.1.1.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method	
4.1.1.1.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method	
4.1.1.2 All compressive web members buckling simultaneously	
4.1.1.2.1 Results of the Hand Calculation Method	
4.1.1.2.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method	
4.1.1.2.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method	
4.1.2 Comparison of <i>K</i> -factors for Out-of-Plane Buckling	47
4.1.2.1 Web members buckling individually	
4.1.2.1.1 Results of Hand Calculation Method	
4.1.2.1.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method	
4.1.2.1.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method	
4.1.2.2 All compressive web members buckling simultaneously	
4.1.2.2.1 Results of the Hand Calculation Method	
4.1.2.2.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method	
4.1.2.2.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method	
4.2 28K10 Joist	53
4.2.1 Comparison of in-plane <i>K</i> -factors for 28K10 Joist	54
4.2.2 Comparison of out-of-plane K-factors for 28K10 Joist	55
4.3 32LH06 Joists	56
4.3.1 Comparison of in-plane K-factors for 32LH06 Joists	57

4.3.2 Comparison of out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors for 32LH06 Joists	
4.4 Summary of 1st Web Member Data for All Joists Investigated	60
CHAPTER 5: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	62
5.1 Summary	
5.2 Conclusions	63
5.3 Recommendations for Future Research	65
APPENDIX A: Data for 18K3	67
APPENDIX B: Data for 28K10	88
APPENDIX C: Data for 32LH06_L1	
APPENDIX D: Data for 32LH06_L2	
REFERENCES	148

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1. Results of in-plane K-factors (18K3)
Table 4.2. Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to hand calculation method (18K3).       43
Table 4.3. Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed load method (18K3).
Table 4.4. Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to SEIC method (18K3).       44
Table 4.5. Effective length <i>K</i> -factors from the hand calculation method and considering simultaneous
buckling web member properties (18K3)46
Table 4.6. Effective length K-factors from the uniformly distributed loading method and considering
simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3)46
Table 4.7. Effective length K-factors from the SEIC method and considering simultaneous buckling web
member properties (18K3)
Table 4.8. Results of out-of-plane K-factors (18K3).    48
Table 4.9. Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to hand calculation method (18K3)49
Table 4.10. Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading
method (18K3)
Table 4.11. Details for computing out-of-plane K-factors according to SEIC method (18K3)
Table 4.12. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (18K3).    50
Table 4.13. Out-of-plane effective length <i>K</i> -factors from the hand calculation method and considering
simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3)
Table 4.14. Out-of-plane effective length K-factors from the uniformly distributed loading method and
considering simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3)
Table 4.15. Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring
simultaneous compression web buckling (18K3)
Table 4.16. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing and requiring simultaneous compression
web buckling (18K3)

Table 4.17. Results of in-plane K-factors (28K10)	55
Table 4.18. Results of out-of-plane K-factors (28K10).	55
Table 4.19. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (28K10).	56
Table 4.20. Results of K-factor in-plane buckling (32LH06_L1)	58
Table 4.21. Results of K-factors for in-plane buckling (32LH06_L2)	58
Table 4.22. Results of K-factors for out-of-plane buckling (32LH06_L1)	59
Table 4.23. Results of K-factors for out-of-plane buckling (32LH06_L2).	59
Table 4.24. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (32LH06_L1)	60
Table 4.25. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (32LH06_L2)	60
Table 4.26. Summary of in-plane buckling K-factors for 1 <sup>st</sup> web member.	61
Table 4.27. Summary of in-plane buckling K-factors for 1 <sup>st</sup> web member.	61

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.1. Effective length factors for various end supports (AISC, 2010)
Figure 1.2. Portion of joist used to confirm hand method
Figure 2.3. The effective length factor table (AISC, 2011)
Figure 2.4. Column buckling with <i>K</i> -factors defined by inflection points
Figure 2.1. Subassemblage model for K-factors in braced (left) and unbraced (right) frames (AISC, 2011)14
Figure 2.2. Alignment charts for sidesway inhibited (left) and uninhibited (right) (AISC, 2011)
Figure 2.5. The crimped double angles shape (Yost, et al. 2004)
Figure 2.6. Buckling modes: out-of-plane (left) and in-plane (right)
Figure 3.1. Simple frame study: sidesway inhibited (left) and sidesway not inhibited (right)22
Figure 3.2. Buckled shapes with rigid beams for sidesway prevented (left) and sidesway permitted (right).
Figure 3.3. Buckled shapes with flexible beams for sidesway prevented (left) and sidesway permitted
(right)
Figure 3.4. Curve for effective length $K$ -factor as a function of the stiffness ratio $G$ (sidesway inhibited
case)
Figure 3.5. <i>K</i> -factors obtained varying top and bottom beam stiffnesses (sidesway inhibited case)24
Figure 3.6. Self-equilibrating member attached to simple frames with and without sidesway inhibited26
Figure 3.7. Examples of loading along axis of members: The compression member with cables (left) and
vertical support (right)
Figure 3.8. The deflected shapes (out-of-plane buckling modes) from the analyses
Figure 3.9. Response of cable- and noncable systems
Figure 3.10. Elastic stiffness matrix for a line element (McGuire, et al. 2000)
Figure 3.11. Definition of angles for computing stiffness contributions
Figure 3.12: Inclined joist with web member of interest vertical; arrows indicate supports

	39
Figure 4.1. Cases and methods employed in study	41
Figure 4.2. Geometric configuration of 18K3 joist.	42
Figure 4.3. All compression web members buckling simultaneously under the uniformly distributed load	l
condition (18K3).	45
Figure 4.4. Deflected shape for simultaneous out-of-plane compression web buckling (18K3)	48
Figure 4.5. Geometric configuration of 28K10 joist.	53
Figure 4.6. Crimped compression web member (Yost et al. 2004)	54
Figure 4.7. Geometric configurations of 32LH06 joists	57

Figure 3.13. Sub-model for confirming the stiffness of the first compression web member in an 18K3 joist.

#### ABSTRACT

Open web steel joists are designed in the United States following the governing specification published by the Steel Joist Institute. For compression members in joists, this specification employs an effective length factor, or K-factor, in confirming their adequacy. In most cases, these K-factors have been conservatively assumed equal to 1.0 for compression web members, regardless of the fact that intuition and limited experimental work indicate that smaller values could be justified. Given that smaller K-factors could result in more economical designs without a loss in safety, the research presented in this thesis aims to suggest procedures for obtaining more rational values. Three different methods for computing in-plane and out-ofplane K-factors are investigated, including (1) a hand calculation method based on the use of alignment charts, (2) computational critical load (eigenvalue) analyses using uniformly distributed loads, and (3) computational analyses using a compressive strain approach. The latter method is novel and allows for computing the individual buckling load of a specific member within a system, such as a joist. Four different joist configurations are investigated, including an 18K3, 28K10, and two variations of a 32LH06. Based on these methods and the very limited number of joists studied, it appears promising that in-plane and out-ofplane K-factors of 0.75 and 0.85, respectively, could be used in computing the flexural buckling strength of web members in routine steel joist design. Recommendations for future work, which include systematically investigating a wider range of joist configurations and connection restraint, are provided.

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

In recent years, steel joist systems have become increasingly more popular in buildings and industrial complexes, in which they are most often used for supporting roof loads. Steel joists serve as an alternative to rolled steel beams because of economic benefits. The load capacity to self-weight ratio of a steel joist can be much higher than that of other structural steel member types.

Since 1928, the Steel Joist Institute (SJI 2010) is the governing agency that defines the specification for designing steel joists in the United States. The design provisions for steel joists and joist girders are presented in this specification. In general, an open web steel joist takes on the form of a truss that has been designed with top and bottom chords of back-to-back angles and a web formed from either segments of continuous bent bar and/or single angles. The SJI has continued to develop other types of joists, including pitched joists and joist girders. In general, joists are fabricated with welded-connections.

Given that the top and bottom chords of joists are continuous and the ends of the web members are almost always welded between these chords, the joist is not a traditional truss comprised of two-force members joined with pinned connections. Although this additional end-restraint does not result in any substantial reduction in the deflection or variations in force distribution, it does have the potential to significantly impact the buckling strength of web members subject to compression.

In general, the flexural buckling strength  $P_{cr}$  of a compression member can be represented by

$$P_{cr} = \frac{\pi^2 EI}{\left(KL\right)^2} \tag{1.1}$$

where E is a measure of the material stiffness, I is the a moment of inertia representing the bending stiffness of the cross-section, L is the unbraced length of the member, and K is an effective length factor that accounts for the degree of rotational restraint provided at the member ends (Ziemian 2010). It is important to note that as the amount of this rotational restraint increases, the effective length K-factor decreases, and the flexural buckling strength or capacity increases. Members in compression are often designed using a computational buckling analysis to determine their buckling strengths. These buckling strengths can then be used to back-calculate effective length *K*factors according to

$$K = \frac{\pi}{L} \sqrt{\frac{EI}{P_{cr}}}$$
(1.2)

where  $P_{cr}$  is the compressive strength determined by the analysis.

A wide range of effective length *K*-factors is shown in Table C-A-7.1 (AISC 2011) and is dependent on the end conditions of a member, as illustrated in Fig.1.1. For a web member within a joist system, these conditions can be represented by the extremes of rigid (no-rotation) constraints at both ends (i.e. Case *a*) to the pinned-end (free to rotate) conditions of Case *d*. Furthermore, the presence of a lateral support can also result in a different range of *K*-factors. As shown in Fig.1.1 (cases *a*, *b*, and *d*) the theoretical *K*-values can range from 0.5 to 1.0 when it assumed that lateral support from other neighboring members prevents the end support from moving horizontally in-plane. In assessing out-of-plane behavior of steel joists, this lateral support will come from the joist's top and bottom chords, which are often braced.



Figure 1.1. Effective length factors for various end supports (AISC 2010).

In preparing provisions for the design of web members in K-series joists, the SJI specification committee has conservatively assumed K = 1 for web members in compression (SJI 2010). In doing so, they do not account for any rotational restraint provided by the top and bottom chords and neighboring tension web members when computing the in-plane and out-of-plane buckling strengths of compression web members. As may be expected, some member companies of the SJI have in recent years been evaluating all of the conservative assumptions associated with the SJI specifications in an effort to continue to remain competitive in the construction industry. With regard to joist web members, a member company funded researchers Yost et al. (2004) to conduct an experimental study on the strength and stiffness of K-Series joists with crimped web members. As part of this study, these researchers found for the few joists that they investigated the assumption of K = 1.0 is conservative for crimped web members and extremely conservative for round bar members. Yost et al. suggested a more reasonable value of K = 0.8. The SJI is now interested in conducting more studies to provide further insight to this topic.

#### 1.1 Objective

The purpose of this project is to conduct a parametric study that investigates the possibility of increasing the compressive strength of web members in open web steel joists by taking into account the rotational end restraint provided by neighboring members, which include the top chord, bottom chord, and neighboring tension members. Parameters that will be studied include any factors that significantly impact the relative stiffness of the web members in compression and their neighboring members; stiffness that is known to impact buckling strength. Although using a *K*-factor of 1.0 is convenient and safer in the routine design of joists, it can be at times very conservative with joists being over-designed. Thus, designers have a responsibility to consider accurate *K*-factors in terms of both economy and stability. The research described in this thesis explores three methods for computing effective length *K*-factors for webs in open web steel joists.

#### **1.2 Research Method**

In this thesis, and in consultation with the Steel Joist Institute, K-series and LH-series joist standard configurations were selected for study. Refined finite element analysis models were prepared for 18K3, 28K10, and 32LH06 joists. These joists were previously investigated in experimental studies by Emerson (2001) and Schwarz (2002), and hence, all member properties were readily available. On all joists, in-plane and out-of-plane *K*-factors are determined using three methods including: computational analyses of the K-and LH- series joists with both uniformly distributed loads and induced compressive strains (termed self-equilibrating induced-compression, SEIC), and a hand calculation method using the alignment charts appearing in the 14<sup>th</sup> edition of the AISC manual (AISC 2011). For the two computational analyses, the finite element analyses program MASTAN2, developed by Ziemian and McGuire (2010), is used.

MASTAN2 is an interactive graphics program that provides pre-processing, analysis, and postprocessing capabilities. Pre- processing options include definition of structural geometry, support conditions, applied loads, and element properties. The analysis routines provide the user the opportunity to perform first- or second- order elastic or inelastic analyses of two- or three- dimensional frames and trusses subjected to static loads. Post- processing capabilities include the interpretation of structural behavior through deformation and force diagrams, printed output, and facilities for plotting response curves.

In many ways, MASTAN2 is similar to today's commercially available structural analysis software in functionality. The number of pre- and post- processing options, however, have been limited in order to minimize the amount of time needed for a user to become proficient at its use. The program's linear and nonlinear analysis routines are based on the theoretical and numerical formulations presented in the text Matrix Structural Analysis, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, by McGuire, Gallagher, and Ziemian (John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2000). In this regard, the reader is strongly encouraged to use this software as a tool for demonstration, reviewing examples, solving problems, and perhaps performing analysis and design studies. Where MASTAN2 has been written in modular format, the reader is also provided the opportunity to develop and implement additional or alternative analysis routines directly within the program. Finally, it should be noted that MASTAN2 will execute on any computing platform where MATLAB is available. (Introduction, McGuire, Gallagher, and Ziemian, MATRIX STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS, Wiley, Inc. 2000)

The two computational methods employed are based on using two- and three-dimensional elastic critical load analyses (eigenvalue analyses) to compute the in-plane and out-of-plane buckling strengths of the web members of interest. Based on the buckling strength, the *K*-factor is back-calculated according to Eq. (1.2). The first computational method is based on buckling strengths computed for joists subject to a uniformly distributed load. This load is used to model the actual gravity load effects on joists. Unlike the buckling analysis with uniformly distributed loads, the novel SEIC method uses temperature loads to produce a compressive strain in only the member of interest. To avoid producing axial load in neighboring

web members, this method requires the use of an additional parallel member of equal axial stiffness to "self-equilibrate" the axial force produced by the induced strain. In the studies completed as part of this research, artificial temperature loading of the parallel member is used to produce this self-straining effect. To avoid providing any additional bending stiffness and produce only axial force in the member of interest, both ends of the extra parallel member are pinned connected. As a consequence, equilibrium between the web member of interest and the artificial parallel member results in no axial force being distributed to the other neighboring members.

The third method used to determine the *K*-factors employs the alignment charts, which also considers the resisting stiffness at both end nodes of the web member. The alignment chart method is presented in the commentary to the AISC Specification (AISC 2011) and is a popular method for computing effective length factors for columns in buildings. In this thesis, the relative stiffness values used in the alignment chart (*G*-factors) are based on members framing into the ends of the web member of interest. For the purpose of this research, these stiffness values are derived using the direct stiffness method (McGuire et al. 2000) with a significant amount of MATLAB programming employed. The expressions obtained for these stiffness values are confirmed using MASTAN2 to analyze a portion of one of the joist configurations studied (Fig.1.2).



Figure 1.2. Portion of joist used to confirm hand method.

#### **1.3 Thesis Overview**

The three main objectives of this research are:

- Use computational analyses (MASTAN2) to compute in-plane and out-of-plane buckling strengths of compressive web members, from which effective length *K*-factors may be backcalculated.
- Develop a hand method for calculating these effective length *K*-factors based on the alignment chart method.
- Make recommendations for in-plane and out-of-plane effective length K-factors for compression web members in steel joists.

This thesis is composed of five chapters.

Chapter 1 includes the introduction, the objectives, and the research method.

Chapter 2 provides background to the study, including the theory of the elastic buckling analysis and the effective length factor.

Chapter 3 describes the methods to compute *K*-factors for the joists. This chapter addresses the derivation process for the stiffness at both ends of the compressed web member, i.e. the two computational analyses with the joists. This chapter also includes a description of the two simulation analyses, including uniformly distributed loading and the SEIC method, which are used to determine *K*-factors from an elastic critical load (eigenvalue) analyses.

Chapter 4 compares the *K*-factors computed from the above methods for four joists configurations, including 18K3, 28K10, 32LH06\_L1, and 32LH06\_L2. Two- and three-dimensional analyses are used to provide in-plane and out-of-plane effective length factors.

Chapter 5 presents a summary of the work, conclusions, and recommendations for future research.

## **Chapter 2: Background**

This chapter describes the theoretical background associated with using the flexural buckling strength to compute effective length factors. It also provides basic information about the effective length *K*-factor. The types of joists studied in this research, including K-series joists and LH-series joists, are described.

#### 2.1 Flexural Buckling Strengths by Elastic Critical Load Analysis

The topic of elastic buckling of columns is well covered in the literature. The primary theory developed therein is often based on the Euler column. This column is assumed perfectly straight, prismatic, elastic material, and concentrically loaded, which implies that the axial load should be applied through the centroidal longitudinal axis of the member, thereby producing no bending or twisting (Ziemian 2010). In using Euler column theory these assumptions should be considered because actual columns rarely abide by them. The theory predicts that the column remains perfectly straight as the applied load increases, until it eventually bifurcates, or reaches the buckling load. At the instant of buckling, the column deforms into its buckled shape, which indicates the column has become unstable. Based on the deformed geometry along the length of the member, the governing differential equation for Euler buckling can be derived from an equilibrium formulation. Upon applying the boundary conditions of the mathematical problem, the resulting buckling load or critical load is

$$P_E = \frac{\pi^2 EI}{L^2} \tag{2.1}$$

where *E* is the modulus of elasticity of the material, *I* is the moment of inertia about the axis which buckling takes place, and *L* is the unbraced length of the column. The Euler load  $P_E$  is a reference value to which the strength of actual columns is often compared.

Equation (2.1) is derived under conditions of frictionless pinned-end supports. If different support conditions exist at the ends of the column, then it would seem reasonable that a coefficient related to the

actual length should be included. This coefficient, or effective length *K*-factor, can also be derived from a differential equation similar to that used in determining the Euler buckling load. The critical buckling load that includes this coefficient can be expressed by

$$P_{cr} = \frac{\pi^2 EI}{\left(KL\right)^2} \tag{2.2}$$

where *KL* is an effective length, which defines the portion of the deflected shape between points of zero curvature (inflection points). In other words, *KL* is the length of an equivalent pinned-ended column that is buckling at the same load as the end-restrained column (Ziemian 2010).

To compute  $P_{cr}$ , an elastic critical load analysis, as performed by the finite element method (basis for MASTAN2) reduces to solving the eigenvalue problem

$$\det\left[K_{e}\right] + \lambda\left[K_{g}\right] = 0 \tag{2.3}$$

in which  $[K_e]$  is the first-order elastic stiffness matrix for the system and  $[K_g]$  is the system's corresponding geometric stiffness. Given that  $[K_g]$  is a linear function of the element forces and moments resulting from the application of loads, temperature effects, and/or prescribed displacements, the computed eigenvalues are the ratios or load factors at which buckling occurs. Using these factors or ratios, the element forces and moments used to originally define  $[K_g]$  can then be directly scaled to determine the buckling loads in members of interest. The eigenvectors coming from the solution of Eq. (2.4) represent the buckling modes or deformed shapes. More details for this type of analysis are provided in McGuire, et al. (2000).

The critical load plays a significant role in this thesis. By using the critical load of each compressive web member of interest, as provided by a computational analysis such as that available in MASTAN2, the effective length *K*-factor can be back-calculated as

$$K = \frac{\pi}{L} \sqrt{\frac{EI}{P_{cr}}}$$
(2.4)

#### 2.2 The Effective Length Factor

For the design of a column restrained by hypothetical end conditions (fixed, pinned, or free), an effective length factor table is provided in the AISC manual (Fig.2.3).



Figure 2.3. The effective length factor table (AISC 2011).

The table in Fig.2.3 shows the theoretical K values and recommended design K values for the ideal condition depending on the end conditions. In the table, cases (*a*), (*b*), and (*d*) represent sidesway inhibited conditions. As shown in the table, the range of the K-factor appears between 0.5 and 1.0 for the theoretical K-values and between 0.65 and 1.0 for the recommended design K-values. For cases (*c*), (*e*), and (*f*), which

represent the sidesway uninhibited condition, the range of *K*-values is above 1.0 for both the theoretical and the recommended design *K*-values.

The effective length *K*-factor is defined as a proportion of the original unbraced length of the compression member. The *K*-factor can be defined as the distance between the inflection points where the curvatures are zero, as shown in Fig. 2.4.



Figure 2.4. Column buckling with K-factors defined by inflection points.

With the advent of more advanced computational analysis, effective lengths of columns may be estimated using the critical axial loads (Nishino 1999). As seen from the critical load equation Eq. (2.2), it is important to note that the effective length is related to the buckling strength. As explained previously in regard to Eq. (2.2), the effective length *K*-factor is located in the denominator of the buckling strength expression, which means that the buckling strength and *K*-factor are inversely proportion to each other. This inverse relationship can be shown with simple example Eq. (2.5). When the *K*-factor decreases from 1.0 to 0.5, the flexural buckling strength increases by a factor of 4.

$$K = 1.0, P_E = \frac{\pi^2 EI}{L^2}$$
 vs.  $K = 0.5, P_{cr} = 4.0 \frac{\pi^2 EI}{L^2} = 4.0 P_E$  (2.5)

As shown above in this calculation, and as expected in general, the effective length can have a dramatic impact on the buckling strength of the member.

The Steel Joist Institute (SJI) specification committee has conservatively assumed K = 1 for the design of web members in K-series joists (SJI 2010). In that assumption, they are not accounting for any rotational restraint provided by the top and bottom chords and the neighboring tension web members in specifying the in-plane and out-of-plane buckling strength of web members. Using K = 1 as the effective length factor in joist design is more conservative, but with respect to economy, adopting 1.0 as the *K*-factor can be very inefficient. This is because a joist web member designed with K=1 will mostly likely be able support more load than anticipated. With this in mind, this thesis expects the actual *K*-factor values for compression web members to be less than 1.0, especially when the rotational restraint provided by adjacent members is accounted for.

#### 2.3 Alignment Charts

Alignment charts have been widely used in the design of compression members in structural frames since the time that the effective length method was first introduced in the AISC specification in 1961. Although researchers presented other methods for computing *K*-factors in frames with sidesway (Lu and Kavanagh 1962; Johnston 1976), they were typically not practical even though they did provide sufficient accuracy. The alignment chart method (Julian and Lawrence 1959), however, did provide an accurate and practical design procedure. The alignment chard method has since been adopted by many present day standards, including AISC (2010) and ACI-318 (2011).

In the alignment chart method, the effective length *K*-factor is expressed in terms of the relative joint bending stiffness ratio, *G*, at each end of the column for both sidesway-prevented and sidesway-permitted frames (Duan 1989). The sidesway inhibited and not inhibited equations, which are used for plotting the alignment charts in the AISC manual, and used for computing *K*-factors are

$$\frac{G_A G_B}{4} (\pi / K)^2 + \left(\frac{G_A + G_B}{2}\right) \left(1 - \frac{\pi / K}{\tan(\pi / K)}\right) + \frac{2\tan(\pi / 2K)}{(\pi / K)} - 1 = 0$$
(C-A-7.1, AISC) (2.6)

$$\frac{G_A G_B (\pi / K)^2 - 36}{6(G_A + G_B)} - \frac{(\pi / K)}{\tan(\pi / K)} = 0$$
(C-A-7.2, AISC) (2.7)

These two equations are derived with the following idealized assumptions, which should be considered carefully when using the alignment charts.

(1) Behavior is purely elastic.

(2) All members have constant cross section.

(3) All joints are rigid.

(4) For columns in frames with sidesway inhibited, rotations at opposite ends of the restraining beams are equal in magnitude and opposite in direction, producing single curvature bending.

(5) For columns in frames with sidesway uninhibited, rotations at opposite ends of the restraining beams are equal in magnitude and direction, producing reverse curvature bending.

(6) The stiffness parameter LP / EI of all columns is equal.

(7) Joint restraint is distributed to the column above and below the joint in proportion to EI/L for the two columns

(8) All columns buckle simultaneously.

(9) No significant axial compression force exists in the girders.

(AISC 2011)

As shown in Eqs. (2.6) and (2.7), the alignment chart can be separated into two types of cases depending on whether or not sidesway is prevented (e.g. braced frame) or permitted (e.g., rigid frame). As

shown in Fig. 2.1, the system to the left is assumed restrained from horizontal movement. Under this condition, the *K*-factor for the column will range between 0.5 and 1.0, as shown in the alignment chart (Fig.2.2). The effective length factor, K, of the components of the braced frame is normally taken as 1.0 (AISC 2011). However, as the rotational stiffness at the far ends of the compressive column increase, the effective length factor of this system decreases to 0.5.



Figure 2.1. Subassemblage model for K-factors in braced (left) and unbraced (right) frames (AISC 2011)

The other case shown in Fig. 2.1 is for sidesway permitted, such as a column in an unbraced frame. Unlike the braced frame, the horizontal translation is permitted. Because of this permitted sidesway, when the top and bottom beams or girders (connected by the column of interest) are very flexible, the structure will become unstable, which implies a *K*-factor approaching infinity. If the supporting beams are rigid, then the *K*-factor would be 1.0. Therefore, the range of the *K*-factor is above 1.0 in an unbraced frame, as shown in Fig. 2.2.



Figure 2.2. Alignment charts for sidesway inhibited (left) and uninhibited (right) (AISC 2011).

The two alignment charts are composed of 3 gradations. Both side gradations indicate the stiffness ratio, as shown in Eqs. (2.6) and (2.7). The K-factor gradation is placed in the center of the alignment chart. Depending on the top and bottom relative column-to-beam stiffnesses ( $G_A$  and  $G_B$ ), the K-factor is determined by drawing a straight line segment between these values. As shown in the two alignment charts, the subscripts A and B of the stiffness ratio G, indicate the ends of the compression member of interest. For example,  $G_A$  could represent the top joint of the compression member and  $G_B$  the bottom joint, or vice-versa because the charts are symmetrical. In the alignment charts,  $G_A$  and  $G_B$  indicate the stiffness ratio, of which the numerator is a summary of the stiffness of columns and the denominator is the summary of the stiffness of girders or beams, as given by

$$G = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{E_{i}I_{i}}{L_{i}}\right)_{c}}{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{E_{j}I_{j}}{L_{j}}\right)_{g}}$$
(2.8)

where, in the stiffness of column (numerator),  $E_c$  is its elastic modulus,  $I_c$  is its moment of inertia, and  $L_c$  is its unsupported length. In the girders connecting to either the top or bottom of the column,  $E_g$  is the elastic modulus of the girder,  $I_g$  is the moment of inertia of the girder,  $L_g$  is the unsupported length of the girder. Also, *n* and *m* indicate the number of columns and girders at the connection points. It is important to note that  $I_c$  and  $I_g$  are taken about axes perpendicular to the plane of buckling being considered.

Because the alignment charts are based on the assumptions previously discussed, and conditions of real structures cannot be in exact agreement with the idealized conditions of these assumptions, adjustments are often required. Duan and Chen (1988) suggested a simple modification of the alignment charts in order to take into account the effect of the boundary conditions at the far ends of beams, both above and below the column being investigated, in braced frames (Duan, Chen 1988). In their study, far end conditions have a significant effect on the *K*-factor of the column under consideration. As reported by their research, depending on the boundary conditions at the far end, the following adjustments should be applied:

Adjustments for Girders With Differing End Conditions. For sidesway inhibited frames, these adjustments for different girder end conditions may be made:

(a) If the far end of a girder is fixed, multiply the  $(EI/L)_g$  of the member by 2.

(b) If the far end of the girder is pinned, multiply the  $(EI/L)_g$  of the member by 1 1/2.

Adjustments for Girders With Differing End Conditions. For sidesway uninhibited frames, these adjustments for different girder end conditions may be made:

(a) If the far end of a girder is fixed, multiply the  $(EI/L)_g$  of the member by 2/3.

(b) If the far end of the girder is pinned, multiply the  $(EI/L)_g$  of the member by 1/2.

(AISC 2011)

#### 2.4 Open Web Steel Joists

Open web steel joists are prefabricated truss-type flexural members typically used in floor and roof support systems. Generally, these joists are used in combination with metal decking to provide an economical system for light to moderately loaded structures. In terms of their bending resistance to weight ratio, open web steel joists are considered to be very efficient structural members when compared to conventional rolled steel sections.

Historically, steel joist manufacturing dates back to 1923, when Warren truss-type configurations comprised of top and bottom chords and a continuous round bar that was bent to form the web (SJI 2002). By 1928, the steel joist industry was thriving and various members of the steel joist industry came together to form the Steel Joist Institute (SJI), which would soon publish the first standard specification for steel joists. Since 1953, the Steel Joist Institute has developed adaptable joists depending on a purpose, span, minimum yielding stress steel, and property of the joist. In the standard specification of the SJI, the joists are comprised of compression web members, tension web members, vertical web member, and top and bottom chords. The SJI standard provides four types of open web steel joists, including K-Series, KCS-Series, LH-Series, and DLH-Series. A name of each joist series is made of two numbers and letters such as 16K6, 10KCS3, 28LH05, and 68DLH17. These numbers and letters indicate each character of the joists. The first number indicates the depth in inches, e.g., 16, and the letter represents the series designation, K. The third number signifies place within the series, e.g., 6.

The LH-Series joist was developed and introduced in 1966 by the SJI. The LH-Series joist is usually used in long spans and is designed for a uniformly distributed load. Similarly, the more recent DLH-Series joists are used in long span structures. However, DLH-Series joists are different from the LH-Series. The letter of D indicates "deep". Moreover, these joists are intended primarily to support roof decks. DLH-Series joists start at a depth of 52 in. and go up to 120 in. Their strengths are tabulated for spans of 62 ft. up to 240 ft.

After the development of the LH-Series joists, the K-Series Joists were introduced in 1986 and eventually replaced many of the LH-Series joists. K-Series joists are generally used in many steel structures. K-series joists support uniformly distributed loads at spans up to 60 ft. and are available in depths from 10 in. to 30 in. The KCS-series joists are similar to the K-series joists. The difference between them is directly related to the moment and shear diagrams assumed in design. In the case of K-Series joists, the uniformly distributed load is applied on the joist resulting a moment diagram of parabolic shape. Corresponding to this bending diagram, the shear diagram appears as a triangular shape. However, the moment diagram of the KCS-series joist is a constant over all interior panel points and constant shear. Thus, the KCS-series joists can be used for special loading situations that combine distributed and concentrated loads.

This study considers two joist configurations, K-series and an LH-series. The following presents more detailed information regarding the K-series joist and the LH-series joists.

#### **K-Series** Joist

The K-Series joists are perhaps the most commonly used joists for floor and roof systems. The term "Open Web Steel Joist" refers to open web, with load-carrying members utilizing hot-rolled or cold-formed steel sections. The Steel Joist Institute uses Allowable Stress Design (ASD) or Load and Resistance Factor Design (LRFD) to proportion K-Series joists in accordance with their standard specification. The K-Series joists have been standardized in depths from 10 in. up to 30 in., for spans up to 60 ft. The maximum total safe uniformly distributed load carrying capacity of a K-Series joist is 550 plf in ASD or 825 plf in LRFD (SJI 2011).

The reasons for developing the K-Series Joists were: (1) to achieve greater economies by utilizing the load span design concept; (2) to meet the demand for roofs with lighter loads at depths from 18 inches to 30 inches; (3) to offer joists whose load carrying capacities at frequently used spans are those most commonly required; (4) to eliminate the very heavy joists in medium depths for which there was little, if any, demand. (SJI Specification 2011) The letters of "LH" refer to the "Long span steel joist". The LH-series joist has the same characteristics as the K-series joist except for available spans and load-carrying capacity. The LH-Series joists have been standardized in depths from 18 inches to 48 inches, for spans up to 96 feet. The maximum total safe uniformly distributed load-carrying capacity of 2400 plf in ASD and 3600 plf in LRFD has been established for this alternate LH-Series format.

#### 2.5 Recent Research Related to K-factors of Web Members

In the  $43^{rd}$  SJI Specification, the effective length *K*-factor for in-plane and out-of-plane buckling of web members in K-series joists is taken as 1.0. In LH-series joists, however, the *K*-factor is taken as 0.75 for inplane buckling and 1.0 for out-of-plane buckling. Although a *K*-factor of 1.0 is more conservative, it is not ideal value for computing the buckling strength due to economical considerations. Furthermore, given that the top and bottom chords of the joist are continuous and the ends of the web members are often welded between these chords, the joist is not a traditional truss comprised of two-force members joined at pinned connections. Under more realistic joist conditions, using a *K*-factor as 1.0 for web members will underestimate their capacity. To improve this situation, some researchers have conducted experimental studies. A brief overview of one of these projects is presented below.

Yost, Dinehart, Gross, Pote, and Gargan (2004) conducted an experimental study on open web steel joists to explore the strength and stiffness of K-Series joists with crimped-ended single angles for web members (Fig. 2.5) instead of traditional single angle or round bar compression web members. These researchers focused on monitoring the failure loads, deflections, top and bottom chord strains, and failure mechanisms of the joists. In their experimental studies, buckling often took place at the crimp location closest to either the top or bottom chord. The buckled shape of all samples in their research showed considerable rotational restraint at the joist, indicating that the actual effective length factor is less than its assumed value of K = 1.0.



Figure 2.3. The crimped double angles shape (Yost, et al. 2004)

#### 2.6 In-plane Buckling and Out-of-plane Buckling

In general, compression web members can buckle either in or out of the plane of the joist. As shown in Fig. 2.6, the left portion of the figure shows out-of-plane buckling and the right portion shows in-plane buckling. Depending on the direction in which the buckling occurs, the governing properties of the web member that should be taken into account are different. For the case of in-plane buckling, only the in-plane bending stiffness of the connected members need be considered. On the other hand, both the out-of-plane bending stiffness and torsional resistance of the connected members should be considered when investigating out-of-plane buckling.



Figure 2.4. Buckling modes: out-of-plane (left) and in-plane (right).

# **Chapter 3: Derivation of the Key Stiffness Expressions Used in Hand Calculation Method**

The primary objectives of this chapter are to:

Provide an overview of how induced compressive strains can be used to compute effective length *K*-factors. This includes details related to the novel self-equilibrating induced compression (SEIC) method, and its implications with respect to computing effective length factors in web members of joists.

Provide an overview of how the alignment charts can be used as a hand-method for estimating in-plane and out-of-plane effective length *K*-factors in compression web members of joists. Derivations of closed form expressions for calculating the restraining stiffness at the top and bottom ends of a compression web member are key parts of this process, and their accuracy is confirmed with computational analysis.

#### 3.1 Induced Compressive Strains - Simple Frame Study

A simple frame study was conducted to develop one of the methods used in this research for computing effective length *K*-factors. The simple frame consists of a top beam, bottom beam, and a column (Fig. 3.1). To simulate an induced compressive strain in the column, its temperature is steadily increased thereby making it want to increase in length. Because the column is constrained by the top and bottom beams, the member is subject to compression and eventually buckles. Employing elastic critical load analyses (available within MASTAN2) and letting the top beam supports be either pinned or rollers, this approach can be used to study sidesway inhibited and sidesway uninhibited cases.



Figure 3.1. Simple frame study: sidesway inhibited (left) and sidesway not inhibited (right).

Horizontal movement of the top beam is prevented in Fig. 3.1 (left) by the beam's pinned supports, which result in the elastic strength of the column being calculated from a K-factor between 0.5 and 1.0. On the other hand, permitting horizontal movement of the top beam (right Fig. 3.1) will result in the column's compression strength computed using a K-factor larger than or equal to 1.0. In both cases, the exact value for K would depend on the relative column-to-beam stiffnesses.

When the beams are rigid, the method correctly computes effective length *K*-factors of 0.5 and 1.0 for the sidesway prevented and permitted cases, respectively (Fig. 3.2). On the other hand, making the top and bottom beams very flexible will essentially result in no rotational restraint at the ends of the column. Again, the analysis with temperature induced strains computes the correct *K*-factors of 1.0 for sidesway inhibited and infinity for sidesway not inhibited (Fig. 3.3).



Figure 3.2. Buckled shapes with rigid beams for sidesway prevented (left) and sidesway permitted (right).



Figure 3.3. Buckled shapes with flexible beams for sidesway prevented (left) and sidesway permitted (right).

Furthermore, by varying the moment of inertia in both the top and bottom beams (and also requiring them to be equal), effective length *K*-factor curves can be produced as shown in Fig. 3.4. The plot is shown with the stiffness ratio  $G = (EI/L)_{col}/(EI/L)_{bm}$  as the abscissa and the *K*-factor as the ordinate. Note that the coefficient *k* is used to represent the restraining stiffness of the beams  $(EI/L)_{bm}$ . The *K*-value curve appearing in Fig. 3.4 is in an exact agreement with *K*-factors determined from the alignment chart method (AISC 2011).


Figure 3.4. Curve for effective length *K*-factor as a function of the stiffness ratio *G* (sidesway inhibited case).

By allowing the moments of inertia in the top and bottom beams to differ, the plot in Fig. 3.5 is obtained. And, again these curves are identical to what is obtained using the alignment chart method. Given the results presented in Figs. 3.4 and 3.5, there is convincing evidence that the self-induced compressive strain method is a viable approach for determining K-factors.



Figure 3.5. K-factors obtained varying top and bottom beam stiffnesses (sidesway inhibited case).

#### 3.2 Using Induced Compressive Strains to compute K-factors in Steel Joists

In this study, all four joists (18K3, 28K10, 32LH06\_L1, and 32LH06\_L2) were studied using two- and three-dimensional critical load analyses, which is an option available in MASTAN2. To isolate the compressive strength and *K*-factors of a specific member, such as a joist web member, compressive strains were induced in this member using the approach outlined in the previous section. To assure that axial forces were not produced in neighboring members, a self-equilibrating induced compression (SEIC) method was developed. In this method, an artificial parallel element is provided so that any axial forces developed through the self-straining process could be equilibrated, thereby not distributing forces to any other members in the joist. The additional parallel element is of equal axial stiffness as the member being isolated and is pinned connected at its ends so as to not provide any additional flexural stiffness.

The simple frame example from the previous section is used to illustrate this concept (Fig. 3.6). As the temperature in the additional parallel member load is reduced, it will tend to contract. Because this parallel member is connected to the actual column, compatibility will result in the column being compressed by the same force that the parallel member feels as it is stretched. If both members are of equal stiffness (e.g., same length, area, and elastic modulus) and essentially lie on top of each other (in the finite element models, the members share the same end nodes), there will be no net displacement at the column ends. And, with no displacements occurring in the system, there will be no forces or moments developed in the beams. Similar behavior would occur if this parallel element is used to strain web members in joists. And, with this approach, the buckling load and *K*-factor for a specific member can be computed.



Figure 3.6. Self-equilibrating member attached to simple frames with and without sidesway inhibited.

An important attribute of this approach is that the compressive load being applied to the member of interest tracks (i.e., is aligned with) a chord defined by the ends of the buckled member. This concept of a member buckling force tracking its chord is demonstrated with the simple example shown in Fig. 3.7. The vertical member (column) is loaded at an end (top) where only vertical displacement is permitted (all other degrees of freedom are restrained). The bottom of the column is subject to two different support conditions; vertical displacement restrained by two in-plane cables (left) and vertical displacement restrained by a vertical support (right). In both cases, all other degrees of freedom at the base of the column are unrestrained.



Figure 3.7. Examples of loading along axis of members: The compression member with cables (left) and vertical support (right).



Figure 3.8. The deflected shapes (out-of-plane buckling modes) from the analyses.

The resulting out-of-plane elastic critical loads for the two configurations differ by a factor of 4.0 (regardless of the axial stiffness and/or steepness of the cables), with the cable system allowing for a greater buckling load. The *K*-factor for the cable-supported system is back-calculated to be 1.0, and as expected, the *K*-factor for the other system is 2.0 (Fig. 3.8). The difference is a result of the direction of the resisting force. For the cable system, the resisting force tracks (is aligned with) a chord defined by the columns ends. In contrast, the resisting force in the non-cable system is always vertical. Similar results are obtained by employing second-order elastic analyses on systems with small out-of-plane imperfections. As shown in Fig. 3.9, the applied loads at which instability occurs again differs by a factor of 4.0 (556 kip for cable supported system versus 144 kip for vertical support system). Note that these numerical values correspond to the vertical compression member being W10X60 of length 240 inches.



Figure 3.9. Response of cable- and noncable systems.

If the cables in this example were to provide some degree of rotational restraint to the bottom of the column, then the critical load increases and the out-of-plane effective length *K*-factor would be less than 1.0, but always greater than or equal to 0.5. The significance of this study is important for understanding why out-of-plane *K*-factors for compression web members in joists are bounded between 0.5 and 1.0. The cables in the simple example are representative of the bottom chord and neighboring tension web members.

With this in mind, the following is a summary for computing effective length *K*-factors in steel joists using the self-equilibrating induced compression (SEIC) method.

- 1. Subdivide the compression web member of interest into 10 elements along its length.
- Define an element parallel to the web member of interest that has exactly the same geometric and material properties as the web member of interest.
- 3. Define connections at end of parallel element as pinned (hinges).

- 4. Apply a positive temperature load to the parallel member, thereby compressing web member of interest. No other loads, including self-weight, are to be applied to the joist.
- 5. Perform three-dimensional elastic critical load analysis of the joist system.
- 6. Observe and confirm buckling mode and load of the web member of interest.
- 7. Back-calculate effective length K-factor from buckling force in the web member of interest.

#### 3.3 Use of Alignment Charts to Compute K-factors for Web Members

Since its introduction in the AISC Specification in 1961, the effective length *K*-factor method of design has been widely accepted for use in the stability assessment of columns in various types of structures. In the more recent editions of the AISC specification, the direct analysis method has been introduced as an alternate method because the effective length method has many assumptions with regard to system behavior and has at times proven to be less accurate (Surovek et al. 2005). Although the direct analysis method may be the preferred approach, the effective length method can provide a simple method for computing the strength of compression web members. As indicated earlier in this thesis, use of the alignment chart to determine *K*-factors requires an estimate of the relative stiffness *G* ratio at each end of the web member of interest.

#### 3.3.1 Stiffness Equation for Using Alignment Chart in Joists

As explained in Chapter 2, the alignment chart consists of two simple steps, which includes computing the stiffness G ratios and from these obtaining the effective length K-factor. Using these charts for a threedimensional system requires that the effective length K-factor depend on relative stiffness G ratios that not only includes the flexural stiffness, but may also include the torsional resistance provided by neighboring members (Duan 1989). In routine building frames, the  $G_A$  and  $G_B$  ratios include the flexural stiffnesses of the connected columns and girders at top and bottom joints A and B, and are defined by

$$G_{A \text{ or } B} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{E_{i}I_{i}}{L_{i}}\right)_{c}}{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{E_{j}I_{j}}{L_{j}}\right)_{g}}$$
(3.1)

where  $\Sigma$  indicates a summation of all members rigidly connected to the joint and lying in the plane in which buckling of the column is being considered. *E* is the elastic modulus and *I* is the columns' and girders' moments of inertia taken about the axis perpendicular to the plane of the buckling, and *L* is the corresponding length of the members.

In a three-dimensional analysis of a steel joist in which the out-of-plane K-factor of a web member is desired, the sum of the "girder" stiffnesses (denominator of Eq. (3.1)) should include the flexural and torsional resistances of the neighboring members, especially the top and bottom chords. The torsional and flexural stiffnesses can be defined by

$$k_{flexure} = \frac{4EI}{L} \tag{3.2}$$

$$k_{torsion} = \frac{GJ}{L}$$
(3.3)

in which G is the shear modulus, and J is the torsional constant.

For several members framing into the end of a compression member, the total resisting bending and torsional stiffness is

$$k_{flexure} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{4E_i I_i}{L_i}$$
(3.4)

$$k_{torsion} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{G_i J_i}{L_i}$$
(3.5)

Technically, Eqs. (3.4) and (3.5) only apply when all of the neighboring members are orthogonal to the web member of interest, which is obviously not the case for a typical joist as shown in Fig. 2.1. For members that are not orthogonal, only their component of stiffness that is perpendicular to the axis of the web member of interest should be included in Eq. (3.1). In essence, this requires a transformation of the stiffness from the reference axes of the top chord, bottom chord, and/or the neighboring tensile member to a consistent stiffness component that is perpendicular to the compression web member of interest.

Furthermore, and as explained previously in Section 2.1, determining the *K*-factor by using the alignment chart under the fixed far end conditions (which for simplicity was assumed in this study) the following adjustments should be applied to the girder stiffnesses.

Adjustment for Girders With Differing End Conditions. For sidesway inhibited frames, these adjustments for different girder end conditions may be made:

(a) If the far end of a girder is fixed, multiply the  $(EI/L)_g$  of the member by 2.

(AISC 2011)

With this in mind, the flexural stiffness contribution is multiplied by 2.0, which results in the denominator of Eq. (3.1) equaling

$$2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( \frac{E_i I_i}{L_i} + \frac{G_i J_i}{L_i} \right) = 2 \left( \frac{k_{flexure}}{4} + k_{torsion} \right) = \frac{k_{flexure}}{2} + 2k_{torsion}$$
(3.6)

Substituting this into Eq. (3.1), the stiffness G ratio becomes

$$G_{Top/Bottom} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\frac{E_i I_i}{L_i}\right)_c}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\frac{E_i I_i}{L_i}\right)_g} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\frac{E_i I_i}{L_i}\right)_{web \ member}}{\left(\frac{k_{flexure}}{2} + 2k_{torsion}\right)_{neighbor \ members}}$$
(3.7)

As a result, the *K*-factor for a compression member can be determined by using the alignment chart method when the flexural and torsional stiffness contributions are transformed accordingly.

## 3.3.2 Closed-Form Expressions for Computing Stiffness G Values

In computing the stiffness *G*-values for a web member in joist, the term in the numerator of Eq. (3.7) reduces to a simple calculation of *EI/L* for the compression web member of interest. As indicated in the previous section, the denominator of Eq. (3.7) is more complex to compute because only the neighboring members' stiffness contributions that are perpendicular to the web member of interest should be included.

For each neighboring member, this stiffness contribution can be determined from key equations of the direct stiffness method, in which all element stiffness matrices are transformed from local element space to a single global space. By defining the local axis of the compression web member of interest to be the global coordinate system, the neighboring element stiffness contributions may each be transformed into this "global" coordinate system and summed accordingly.

Based on physics, stiffness is a measure of the resistance (force or moment) offered by a body to deformation (displacement or rotation), which can be represented mathematically as

$$k = \frac{F}{\delta}$$
(3.8)

where *F* is the resisting force, and  $\delta$  is the applied displacement; noting that both the force and the displacement are in the same direction. By using this simple relationship and basic equations of solid mechanics, the elastic stiffness for a 12-degree of freedom finite element (line element) can be determined (Fig. 3.10). For this element, there are 6 independent displacement components at each end of the element, including three transitional and three rotational degrees of freedom. The coefficients of the matrix represent axial stiffness, flexural stiffness, and torsional stiffness.

Figure 3.10. Elastic stiffness matrix for a line element (McGuire, et al. 2000).

It is also important to note that this stiffness matrix references the element's local coordinate system, which may not necessarily align with the system's global coordinate system. To have this element stiffness matrix reference another orthogonal coordinate system, such as a system's global coordinate system, the following transformation is required.

$$[k] = [\Gamma]^{T} [k_{e}'][\Gamma]$$
(3.9)

where the transformation matrix  $[\Gamma]$  is defined as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Gamma \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma \end{bmatrix} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & [\gamma] & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & [\gamma] & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & [\gamma] & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & [\gamma] \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.10)

The repeating  $[\gamma]$  in Eq. (3.11) is defined by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \gamma \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} l_{x}, & m_{x}, & n_{x'} \\ l_{y'}, & m_{y'}, & n_{y'} \\ l_{z'}, & m_{z'}, & n_{z'} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.11)

in which the rows of  $[\gamma]$  are defined by unit vectors of the element's local x', y', and z' axes as defined in defined in the global reference coordinate system.

Using the symbolic toolbox in MATLAB, the above local element stiffness matrix (Fig. 3.10) representative of a neighboring joist member (e.g., top chord) was transformed to a coordinate system that

is aligned with the web member of interest's coordinate system. Given that z axes (out-of-plane axes) for both of these elements are aligned (parallel), Eq. (3.12) reduces to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \gamma \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \Phi_i & \sin \Phi_i & 0 \\ -\sin \Phi_i & \cos \Phi_i & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.12)

in which  $\Phi$  is measured from the compression web member's length axis counter-clockwise to the adjacent neighboring member being considered (Fig. 3.11).

The resulting transformed stiffness matrix contains the in-plane and out-of-plane stiffness contributions of the neighboring element. The in-plane stiffness contribution is defined by the coefficient located at the 6<sup>th</sup> row and 6<sup>th</sup> column of the transformed element stiffness matrix. The desired out-of-plane stiffness contribution is defined by the coefficient located at the 4<sup>th</sup> row and 6<sup>th</sup> column.

By summing these stiffness contributions for all n of the neighboring elements, the resisting stiffness (denominator of Eq. (3.1)) for in-plane buckling of the compression web member is

$$k_{neighbor members} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{4E_i I_{zi}}{L_i} \right)$$
(3.13)

Likewise, the total resisting stiffness for out-of-plane buckling of the compression web member is

$$k_{neighbor members} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{G_i J_i \sin^2 \Phi_i + 4E_i I_{yi} \cos^2 \Phi_i}{L_i}$$
(3.14)



Figure 3.11. Definition of angles for computing stiffness contributions.

Using a first-order elastic analysis (MASTAN2) as described in the next section, the above stiffness values were checked for accuracy. The derived in-plane stiffness (Eq. (3.13)) was confirmed. Unfortunately, the out-of-plane stiffness computed by Eq. (3.14) is grossly over predicted when compared with "exact" MASTAN2 analysis. After an extensive investigation, it was determined that simply taking one coefficient from the resulting stiffness matrix (Eq. (3.9)) is only applicable, if the relative angle  $\Phi$  is either 90, 180, or 270 degrees. For all other values of  $\Phi$ , the link between flexure and twist is not accounted for properly. For example, when the neighboring member end rotates about one axis (e.g., global x axis), it also must be permitted to rotate about (twist) about the other axis (global y axis). In other words, these two degrees of freedom need to both be permitted to displace together, which is in contrast to the definition of a single coefficient of element stiffness matrix, which requires all other degrees of freedom be restrained.

To correct for this, the symbolic toolbox in MATLAB was used to complete a full structural analysis of a single element to determine the correct stiffness (e.g., moment resulting from a unit rotation). To do this, the direct stiffness method was used to analyze a single element at an arbitrary orientation. All degrees of freedom except for two were prescribed as zero (set equal to zero). Rotation about the global y-axis was defined as unrestrained (free) and rotation about the global x-axis was prescribed to be a value of one. The resulting reaction (moment) at the degree of freedom prescribed as unity is the desired and correct out-of-plane stiffness contributed by the element.

The sum of out-of-plane stiffness for all elements connected to the web member of interest is now determined as

$$k_{Top/Bottom} = \alpha - \frac{\beta}{\gamma}$$
(3.15)

$$\alpha = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \frac{4E_i I_i \cos^2 \phi_i}{L_i} + \frac{G_i J_i \sin^2 \phi_i}{L_i} \right]$$
$$\beta = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \frac{4E_i I_{yi} \cos \phi_i \sin \phi_i}{L_i} - \frac{G_i J_i \cos \phi_i \sin \phi_i}{L_i} \right]^2$$
$$\gamma = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \frac{4E_i I_i \sin^2 \phi_i}{L_i} + \frac{G_i J_i \cos^2 \phi_i}{L_i} \right]$$

In terms of using the alignment charts to obtain effective length K-factors from stiffness G ratios, the above in-plane and out-of-plane stiffness equations are used within

$$G_{\text{Top/Bottom}} = \frac{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{E_{i}I_{i}}{L_{i}}\right)_{c}}{2\left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{E_{i}I_{i}}{L_{i}}\right)_{g}} = \frac{\left(\frac{EI}{L}\right)_{\text{web}}}{\frac{k_{\text{Top/Bottom}}}{2}}$$
(3.16)

with the adjustment factor of 2 accounting for the far end fixed condition and with  $k_{Top/Bottom}$  computed from Eq. (3.13) (in-plane buckling) and Eq. (3.15) (out-of-plane buckling).

# 3.4 Method for Confirming Stiffness Equations

As indicated earlier, the stiffnesses given by Eqs. (3.13) and (3.15) at both ends of the web member were confirmed with the structural analysis program MASTAN2. The process for doing so is provided below.

 The joist is modeled at an incline, as shown in Fig. 3.12, so that the compressed web member of interest is vertical. This step is necessary because the MASTAN2 program is limited to only being able to prescribe displacements or rotations about one of the axes of the global coordinate system.



Figure 3.12: Inclined joist with web member of interest vertical; arrows indicate supports.

2. All members except for those connected to the top and bottom nodes of the web member of interest are removed (Fig. 3.13). The top portion of the model includes two elements representing the left and right parts of the top chord, and one element representing the connecting tension web member. Similarly, the bottom portion includes one element to represent the bottom chord, and two elements to model the diagonal tension members.



Figure 3.13. Sub-model for confirming the stiffness of the first compression web member in an 18K3 joist.

- 3. The support conditions are also shown in Fig. 3.13. All degrees of freedom except those described in the next sentences are set equal to zero.
  - a. If the in-plane stiffnesses are desired, the rotational degrees of freedom about the out-ofplane axis (perpendicular to web member of interest) are then prescribed as unity. This is not shown in Fig. 3.13.
  - b. If the out-of-plane stiffnesses are desired, the rotational degrees of freedom about the vertical axis at the nodes of where the web member's ends would exist are permitted to displace (i.e. are free degrees of freedom). The rotational degrees of freedom about the horizontal axis (perpendicular to web member of interest) are then prescribed as unity. This case corresponds to the support conditions shown in Fig. 3.13.
- 4. According to the definition of stiffness k (Eq. (3.17), which is analogous to Eq. (3.8)), the reactions (resulting moments) at the degrees of freedom prescribed to be unity, will equal the desired stiffnesses.

$$k = \frac{M}{\theta} \tag{3.17}$$

# Chapter 4: Results of K-factor Studies

The main focus of this research is to determine accurate in-plane and out-of-plane effective length *K*-factors of compression web members. Four joist configurations (18K3, 28K10, 32LH06\_L1, and 32LH06\_L2) have been studied. These joists were selected because their member properties are known from previous experimental studies by Emerson (2001) and Schwarz (2002). Three general methods for computing *K*-factors are employed, including a hand calculation approach based on the alignment charts, a computation analysis method that uses a self-equilibrating induced compression (SEIC) loading procedure, and computation analysis employing a uniformly distributed load. In the latter two methods, effective length *K*-factors are back-calculated from the results of elastic critical load analyses. In these analyses, two scenarios are investigated: a) all compression web members buckling simultaneously and b) compression web members buckling individually. In this chapter, summaries of the calculated *K*-factors for each joist are provided along with descriptions of the joists, including geometric properties such as span length, depth, member size, and weight. Specific details for the 18K3 are provided in this chapter, and details related to the other joists studies are provided in the Appendices to this thesis. An overview of the cases presented is provided in Fig. 4.1.

In completing this study, the following assumptions have been made.

- 1) Section properties, including A,  $I_z$ ,  $I_y$ , and J, are modeled.
- 2) Material is always assumed elastic with E = 29,000 ksi.
- Top and bottom chords are continuous, and all web members are joined with fully restrained (rigid) connections.
- 4) No initial in-plane or out-of-plane imperfections are modeled.
- 5) Top chords of all joists are braced at all web member to top chord connection points.
- 6) Members are defined by centroid to centroid locations.



Figure 4.1. Cases and methods employed in study.

# 4.1 18K3 Joist

As shown in Fig. 4.2, an 18K3 joist consists of top and bottom chords, and diagonal tension and compression web members. In addition to the top chord being braced at the chord-web intersections, the bottom chord is braced at two symmetric locations over the span of the joist. The top and bottom chords are double-angles and all web members are round bars. The chords are made of two single-angle members—a leg of the first member is attached via the web members and spacers to the leg of the other single angle member, with a resulting 0.5" gap between the angles. In other words, the round diagonal web members are located in the gap and establish the gap between the two angles comprising the top and bottom chords. Specific member sizes are also provided in Fig. 4.2. Centroid to centroid dimensions are provided.



SPAN = 28' - 3"TOP CHORD (2L) = 1.5" x 1.5" x 0.123" with 0.5" GAP BOTTOM CHORD (2L) = 1.25" x 1.25" x 0.109" with 0.5" GAP W1 = 0.625" DIA. ROUND W2 = 0.562" DIA. ROUND TOTAL WEIGHT = 165 lb (The symbol 2L is used to indicate double angle members.)

Figure 4.2. Geometric configuration of 18K3 joist.

# 4.1.1 Comparison of K-factors for In-Plane Buckling

Based on all methods employed in this research, a summary of the in-plane effective length *K*-factors for the six compression web members in this 18K3 is provided in Table 4.1. Details specific to the results of each method are provided below. In general, the members that neighbor the compression web members (top or bottom chord, and tension web members) provide significant rotational restraint and thus result in *K*-factors for the compression web members that are very close 0.50 or a fixed-fixed end condition (Case *a*, Fig.2.3).

о <u>г</u>		In-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web	6 <sup>th</sup> Web
wel vith		$I_z(in^4)$	0.00749	0.00749	0.004897	0.004897	0.004897	0.004897
ual ng v en L	V	Hand Calc.	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51
vidı klir giv€	Л	SEIC*	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51
ndi <sup>-</sup> 3uc	R	educed $I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.00675	0.0051	0.003967	0.002742	0.001714	0.000563
I	K	Dist. Load	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51
us ng H I_z		In-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web	6 <sup>th</sup> Web
heol klir Icec		$I_z(in^4)$	0.006225	0.0051	0.003967	0.00278	0.0017	0.000563
ltar ouc edu		Hand.Cal.	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51
mu eb l	K	Dist. Load	0.52	0.51	0.52	0.51	0.52	0.52
Si w(		SEIC*	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.50	0.50	0.50

\* SEIC =  $\underline{S}$ elf- $\underline{E}$ quilibrating Induced  $\underline{C}$ ompression

Table 4.1. Results of in-plane K-factors (18K3).

#### 4.1.1.1 Web members buckling individually

In the upper portion of Table 4.1, the analysis methods employ the compression web members actual section properties. As a result, compression web members would buckle independently. All methods are in near perfect agreement, and consistently provide an in-plane *K*-factor of 0.51 for the individual web member buckling.

# 4.1.1.1.1 Results of Hand Calculation Method

Table 4.2 provides the details for the hand calculation method that is based on the use of alignment charts with sidesway inhibited. The *K*-factors for the  $3^{rd}$  through  $6^{th}$  compression web members are equal (0.51) because all members in this vicinity possess the same relative stiffness properties (*EI/L*). The stiffness *G* ratios, which are values essential to using the alignment charts, are computed according to Section 3.3. The relatively small *G* values indicate that the bending stiffness of the compression web member is significantly less than that of the top or bottom chords. It is apparent from Table 4.1 that the hand calculation and computational methods are in close agreement. This shows promise that in-plane buckling *K*-factors may be computed for compression web members with only the properties of neighboring members and without the use of a computational analysis program. Numerical data for this stiffness is provided in Appendix A.

Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K		
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	1523.284	0.014	0.52		
i web Member	Bottom	440.645	0.047	0.32		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	1508.957	0.014	0.51		
	Bottom	795.868	0.026	0.31		
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mombar	Top		Top 1508.957		0.009	0.51
5 web Member	Bottom	781.541	0.017	0.51		
1 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mombor	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51		
4 web Member	Bottom	781.541	0.017	0. 51		
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51		
5 Web Member	Bottom	781.541	0.017	0.31		
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51		
	Bottom	781.541	0.017	0.31		

Table 4.2. Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to hand calculation method (18K3).

## 4.1.1.1.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method

The details and results of *K*-factors computed from elastic critical load analyses of the joists with uniformly distributed loads are provided in Table 4.3. In this method, it is not possible to buckle a specific compression member without modifying (reducing) its moment of inertia. This is because the other members (e.g., top chord) may control the primary mode of buckling. To make the compression web member of interest buckle, this member's moment of inertia was artificially adjusted until it controlled the elastic critical load capacity of the joist. The computed buckling strengths of the controlling compression web members were used to back-calculate their *K*-factors. For in-plane buckling, *K*-factors of 0.51 were consistently obtained.

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0065	16.09	0.51
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0051	12.81	0.51
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.003967	9.998	0.51
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.002742	6.956	0.51
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.001714	4.355	0.51
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0006	1.524	0.51

Table 4.3. Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to uniformly distributed load method (18K3).

#### 4.1.1.1.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method

Specific details for the self-equilibrating induced compression (SEIC) method are provided in Table 4.4. This method employs self-straining to load only the compression web member of interest, and uses an eigenvalue analysis of the entire joist to compute the buckling load  $P_{cr}$  of the web member. The effective length *K*-factors are back-calculated from the member's buckling load  $P_{cr}$  according to Eq. (2.4). This data indicates in-plane *K*-factors from 0.51 up to 0.52, which is consistent with the other methods.

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00749	18.22	0.52
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00749	18.59	0.51
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	12.35	0.51
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	12.35	0.51
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	12.35	0.51
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	12.35	0.51

Table 4.4. Details for computing in-plane *K*-factors according to SEIC method (18K3).

## 4.1.1.2 All compressive web members buckling simultaneously

In the SEIC method, a single compression web member buckles with no force in the remaining members in the joist. Given that other web members may be in compression and as a result provide less restraining stiffness than when they are not loaded, the worst case scenario of all web members buckling simultaneously was investigated. To make this happen, all of the compression web members' moments of inertia were artificially adjusted until a uniformly distributed load on the joist caused this mode of failure (Fig. 4.3). Using the buckling forces in the compression web members and the adjusted moments of inertia, effective length *K*-factors were once again back-calculated. All three of these values are provided in the lower portion of Table 4.1, and in-plane effective length *K*-factors only slightly larger than the individual buckling values are obtained.



Figure 4.3. All compression web members buckling simultaneously under the uniformly distributed load condition (18K3).

# 4.1.1.2.1 Results of the Hand Calculation Method

Using the compression web members' adjusted moments of inertia, the hand method was once again used to compute their effective length *K*-factors. And again, these values are consistent with the results of computational analyses based on the uniformly distributed loading and SEIC loading. Numerical data corresponding to the hand method are provided in Table 4.5, and details are provided in Appendix A.

Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in/rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	1523.284	0.011	0.51
i web Member	Bottom	440.645	0.039	0.31
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51
2 web Member	Bottom	795.868	0.018	0.31
2rd Wah Mambar	Тор	1508.957	0.007	0.51
5 web Member	Bottom	781.541	0.014	0.31
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	1508.957	0.005	0.51
4 web Member	Bottom	781.541	0.010	0.31
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	1508.957	0.005	0.51
5 web Member	Bottom	781.541	0.010	0.31
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	1508.957	0.003	0.50
o web Member	Bottom	781.541	0.006	0.50

 Table 4.5. Effective length K-factors from the hand calculation method and considering simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3).

# 4.1.1.2.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method

In Table 4.6, *K*-factors resulting from the use of the uniformly distributed load method are provided. By adjusting the compression web members' moments of inertia, computational critical load analyses were employed to predict the compression web members' buckling strengths. Once again, *K*-factors of approximately 0.51 were back-calculated from the web member buckling strengths.

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.006225	15.25	0.51
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0051	12.25	0.51
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.03967	9.584	0.51
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00278	6.843	0.51
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0017	4.105	0.51
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.000563	1.369	0.50

 Table 4.6. Effective length K-factors from the uniformly distributed loading method and considering simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3).

## 4.1.1.2.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method

Using the compression web members' adjusted moments of inertia, the SEIC method was also used to compute effective length *K*-factors. To do this, the SEIC loading was applied sequentially to each compression web member. Details for these computations are provided in Table 4.7. Comparing the *K*-factors from this method with the others, good agreement observed with *K*-factors ranging between 0.50 and 0.51.

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$P_{cr}$ (kip)	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.006225	15.30	0.51
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0051	12.84	0.51
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.003967	10.06	0.51
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.002742	7.006	0.50
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.001812	4.655	0.50
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.000563	1.458	0.50

Table 4.7. Effective length *K*-factors from the SEIC method and considering simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3).

## 4.1.2 Comparison of K-factors for Out-of-Plane Buckling

Using an approach similar to that for in-plane buckling, a summary of the computed out-of-plane effective length *K*-factors is provided in Table 4.8. Because the out-of-plane resistance to buckling provided by the top and bottom chords is reduced from major axis bending to essentially the torsional resistance of the chords' double angles (which for open shapes is relatively small), the computed *K*-factors are larger (0.53 to 0.69) than their corresponding in-plane values. It is also noted that the effective length *K*-factors increase as the compression web member of interest is located further away from the bottom chord braces. This concept is illustrated in Fig. 4.4, which shows the case of uniformly distributed loading and all compression web members buckling simultaneously.

en	C	Out-of-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web	6 <sup>th</sup> Web
eb giv		$I_v(in^4)$	0.00749	0.00749	0.004897	0.004897	0.004897	0.004897
ith w	v	Hand Calc.	0.66	0.69	0.66	0.66	0.66	0.66
dua g w <i>I</i> y	Λ	SEIC*	0.69	0.69	0.66	0.65	0.65	0.65
Indivi Ickling		Reduced $I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.00623	0.00465	0.00353	0.00235	0.00132	0.00039
Bu	K	Dist. Load	0.63	0.61	0.60	0.58	0.56	0.53
si gi b	C	Out-of-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web	6 <sup>th</sup> Web
leot klin uce		$I_y(in^4)$	0.00667	0.00497	0.0036	0.00235	0.00125	0.00047
multan eb bucl ith red		Hand Calc.	0.69	0.64	0.63	0.59	0.55	0.52
	K	Dist. Load	0.67	0.65	0.62	0.60	0.56	0.60
N N N		SEIC*	0.67	0.64	0.62	0.59	0.55	0.53

\* SEIC = <u>Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression</u>

Table 4.8. Results of out-of-plane K-factors (18K3).



Figure 4.4. Deflected shape for simultaneous out-of-plane compression web buckling (18K3).

## 4.1.2.1 Web members buckling individually

The upper portion of Table 4.8 uses the original compression web members' moments of inertia (Hand Calc. and SEIC) and provides computed effective length *K*-factors for all three methods of analysis (hand, uniformly distributed loading, SEIC loading). In general, the results of these methods are in agreement.

## 4.1.2.1.1 Results of Hand Calculation Method

Details for the hand calculation method are provided in Table 4.9. Because the resisting stiffness k is reduced, the relative stiffness G ratios increase. And with this increase, the effective length K-factors also increase, and range from 0.66 to 0.69. Additional data for this method is provided in Appendix A.

Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	49.2824	0.420	0.66	
i web Member	Bottom	55.6328	0.372	0.00	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.8860	0.611	0.60	
2 web Member	Bottom	47.9199	0.432	0.09	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Top		0.399	0.66	
	Bottom	32.7151	0.413	0.00	
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	33.8860 0.399		0.((	
4 web Member	Bottom	32.7151	0.413	0.00	
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Manhar	Тор	33.8860	0.399	0.66	
5 web Member	Bottom	32.7151	0.413	0.00	
( <sup>th</sup> Wah Marshar	Тор	33.8860	0.399	0.66	
o web Member	Bottom	32.7151	0.413	0.00	

Table 4.9. Details for computing out-of-plane K-factors according to hand calculation method (18K3).

# 4.1.2.1.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method

Results for the uniformly distributed load method are provided in Table 4.10. Similar to the in-plane buckling study, the compression web members' moments of inertia were adjusted so that they controlled the buckling capacity of the joist. Based on their buckling forces, *K*-factors ranging from 0.53 to 0.63 were back-calculated.

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_y(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.006225	10.13	0.63
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00465	8.169	0.61
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.003526	6.402	0.60
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.002351	4.571	0.58
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.001322	2.743	0.56
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.000392	0.9144	0.53

 Table 4.10. Details for computing out-of-plane K-factors according to uniformly distributed loading method (18K3).

# 4.1.2.1.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method

Table 4.11 provides the details in computing out-of-plane effective length *K*-factors according to the SEIC method. It is again apparent that the *K*-factor decreases when compression members are located near bottom brace points (it is noted that the top chord is fully braced at every web-chord intersection).

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_y(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\mathrm{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00749	10.36	0.69
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00749	10.33	0.69
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	7.40	0.66
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	7.44	0.65
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	7.56	0.65
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.004897	7.65	0.65

Table 4.11. Details for computing out-of-plane K-factors according to SEIC method (18K3).

To explore the impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing, the SEIC method was used in conjunction with the requirement that the out-of-plane displacement at the bottom of the compression member be restrained. As shown in Table 4.12, this modification surprisingly produces only a small decrease in the resulting K-factors.

	Out-of-plane K-factors for individual web buckling								
-	18K3 Joist	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web	6 <sup>th</sup> Web		
Chord	Originally, unrestrained out-of-plane	0.69	0.69	0.66	0.65	0.65	0.65		
sottom Panel	Restrained out-of-plane	0.66	0.67	0.64	0.64	0.64	0.65		
Щ	Difference (%)	3.43	2.29	1.83	1.93	0.87	0.04		

Table 4.12. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (18K3).

## 4.1.2.2 All compressive web members buckling simultaneously

Similar to the in-plane buckling study, all three of the methods for computing effective length *K*-factors were also employed for the case in which all compression web members buckle simultaneously. The results are provided in the lower portion of Table 4.8 and will be discussed in more detail below.

# 4.1.2.2.1 Results of the Hand Calculation Method

In comparing Tables 4.9 and 4.13, adjusting the compression members' moments of inertia to produce simultaneous buckling, produces only a small change in K-factors, with some values increased and others decreased. The reason for the decreasing K-factors may be attributed to the need to use smaller moments of inertia in the compression members so as to trigger simultaneous web buckling. As a result of these smaller values, the relative stiffness G values decrease, thereby decreasing the K-factors for some of the web members.

Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in/rad.)	G	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	49.2824	0.374	0.60	
i web Member	Bottom	55.6328	0.311	0.09	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.8860	0.405	0.64	
2 web Wender	Bottom	47.9199	0.286	0.04	
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.8860	0.293	0.63	
3 web Member	Bottom	32.7151	0.304	0.03	
1 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	33.8860	0.192	0.50	
4 web Member	Bottom	32.7151	0.198	0.39	
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.8860	0.102	0.55	
5 web Member	Bottom	32.7151	0.106	0.55	
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	33.8860	0.038	0.52	
0 web Member	Bottom	32.7151	0.040	0.32	

Table 4.13. Out-of-plane effective length *K*-factors from the hand calculation method and considering simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3).

## 4.1.2.2.2 Results of Uniformly Distributed Loading Method

The buckling forces and corresponding *K*-factors resulting from simultaneous buckling of all compression members are provided in Table 4.14. The *K*-factors tend to be smaller for web members closer to the center. Comparing Table 4.13 and Table 4.14, the *K*-factors show a good agreement with ranges between 0.56 and 0.67.

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_{y}(\text{in.}^{4})$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00667	9.573	0.67
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00497	7.691	0.65
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0036	6.016	0.62
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00235	4.296	0.60
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00125	2.578	0.56
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00047	0.8594	0.60

 Table 4.14. Out-of-plane effective length K-factors from the uniformly distributed loading method and considering simultaneous buckling web member properties (18K3).

### 4.1.2.2.3 Results of Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression Method

Effective length *K*-factors and the details used to calculate them according to the SEIC method and web member properties required for simultaneous buckling are provided in Table 4.15. Similar to the hand method and the results of employing a uniformly distributed load, there is only small impact in modifying the web members so that they all buckle simultaneously. Once again, the impact of bracing the bottom chord at the location of the compression web member being studied was explored. Similar to the previous study, the *K*-factors were reduced by only a small amount which varied from none to 3% (Table 4.16).

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_v(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00667	9.615	0.67
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00497	7.897	0.64
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.0036	6.021	0.62
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00235	4.464	0.59
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00125	2.732	0.55
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	20.9945	0.00047	1.099	0.53

Table 4.15. Details for computing out-of-plane *K*-factors according to SEIC method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (18K3).

	Out-of-plane K-factors For Simultaneous Buckling									
ord t	18K3 Joist	1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member			
m Chc el Poin	Originally, unrestrained out-of-plane	0.67	0.64	0.62	0.59	0.55	0.53			
Bottor Pane	Restrained out-of-plane	0.65	0.63	0.61	0.58	0.54	0.53			
	Difference (%)	3.50	2.15	1.70	1.43	0.40	0.00			

 Table 4.16. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (18K3).

Detailed studies similar to the above were also performed on several other joist configurations. The description of the 28K10 joist investigated is provided in Fig. 4.5. The top and bottom chords are comprised of back-to-back double angles with a 1" gap between them. Instead of round bars for web members, crimped- and non-crimped angles are used for the diagonal web members. In addition to assuming the top chord is braced out-of-plane at the joist's panel points, the bottom chord is also braced at three locations as shown in Fig. 4.5.



Figure 4.5. Geometric configuration of 28K10 joist.

Crimping the ends of the web members (Fig. 4.6) allows for them to be aligned symmetrically with respect to the centerline of the joist, thereby eliminating the effects of eccentric loading in the web members. The 1" width at the crimped ends is used to define the gap between the top and bottom chords. Crimped angles are most often employed as the compression web members in steel joists. According to Yost et al. (2004), crimped web members are found to have smaller *K*-factors than uncrimped members.

The remaining vertical and tension members in the joists are uncrimped single angles with 1" legs to match the crimped width and assist with providing the top and bottom chord gaps.



Figure 4.6. Crimped compression web member (Yost et al. 2004)

## 4.2.1 Comparison of in-plane K-factors for 28K10 Joist

Using the same methods employed for the 18K3, a summary of the in-plane effective length *K*-factors is provided in Table 4.17. The upper portion of the table presents results using the original moments of inertia for the compression web members and thus considers individual buckling capacities of each web member assuming all other members in the joist are not loaded. The lower portion of the table considers all compression web members buckling simultaneously, which is accomplished by varying the compression web members of inertia. All of the methods are in general agreement, and again indicate that the resisting stiffness of the chords and tension members is significantly greater than the stiffness of the compresentative of the fixed-fixed column end condition for sidesway inhibited.

-9 -		In-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
wel vith		$I_z(in^4)$	0.1294	0.08171	0.04766	0.03561	0.03561
ual ng v n <i>L</i>	V	Hand Calc.	0.55	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51
vidı klir give	Λ	SEIC*	0.55	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51
auc Buc	]	Reduced $I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.08411	0.06373	0.04528	0.02849	0.01175
Ч	K	Dist. Load	0.53	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51
$\operatorname{us}_{II_{Z}}$	In-Plane		1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
klir Icec		$I_z(in^4)$	0.079534	0.060465	0.045277	0.028844	0.01179
ltar ouc edu		Hand Calc.	0.53	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.50
mu eb l	K	Dist. Load	0.53	0.52	0.52	0.52	0.51
Si w wit		SEIC*	0.53	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.50

\* SEIC =  $\underline{S}$ elf- $\underline{E}$ quilibrating Induced  $\underline{C}$ ompression

Table 4.17. Results of in-plane K-factors (28K10).

## 4.2.2 Comparison of out-of-plane K-factors for 28K10 Joist

A summary of the out-of-plane buckling results for the 28K10 joist is provided in Table 4.18. As expected, the resisting stiffness of the top and bottom chords is reduced and the *K*-factors increase to predicted values between 0.55 and 0.72. In all cases, the SEIC method provides the most conservative values (0.66 to 0.80 and 0.72 to 0.83) and the uniformly distributed loading provides the more liberal results (0.55 to 0.72 and 0.55 to 0.77). The difference, however, is not significant. Just as importantly, the results of the hand calculation method lie between the two computational results.

-0 -I	C	Out-of-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
wel vitł		$I_y(in^4)$	0.1003	0.08156	0.06341	0.04974	0.04974
lal v gr u L	K	Hand Calc.	0.80	0.74	0.68	0.66	0.66
vidı klir şive		SEIC <sup>*</sup>	0.83	0.78	0.75	0.72	0.72
ndi <sup>r</sup> 3uc	Re	duced $I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.0703	0.046	0.0315	0.016	0.00625
II	Κ	Dist. Load	0.72	0.66	0.64	0.59	0.55
st gi d	Out-of-Plane		1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
leot klir uce		$I_y(in^4)$	0.072	0.042	0.030	0.016	0.0058
ltar uc red		Hand Calc.	0.73	0.66	0.64	0.58	0.53
Simul web ł with	K	Dist. Load	0.77	0.66	0.66	0.60	0.55
		SEIC*	0.79	0.70	0.67	0.60	0.54

\* SEIC =  $\underline{S}$ elf- $\underline{E}$ quilibrating Induced  $\underline{C}$ ompression

Table 4.18. Results of out-of-plane K-factors (28K10).

As shown in Table 4.19, restraining the bottom chord at the location of the web member interest continues to not significantly impact the results—a similar pattern to the 18K3 compression web members.

	Out-of-plane K-factors For Individual Buckling									
	28K10 Joist	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web				
Bottom Chord Panel Point	Originally unrestrained out- of-plane	0.83	0.78	0.75	0.72	0.72				
	Restrained out-of-plane	0.80	0.76	0.75	0.72	0.72				
	Difference (%)	3.29	1.91	0.00	0.00	0.00				

Table 4.19. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (28K10).

# 4.3 32LH06 Joists

In addition to short-span joists, two variations of a long span LH-series joist were investigated. As shown in Fig. 4.7, both variations are employ the same member sizes, but differ in the steepness and length of the first compression member (W3). Similar to the previously described 28K10, these joists employ a mix of crimped compression and un-crimped tension and vertical web members. The length-to-height ratio of the 32LH06's investigated is about 10% larger than that of the 28K10. In both variations, the bottom chord is braced in three locations as shown in Fig. 4.7.



(a) Variation 32LH06\_L1



(b) Variation 32LH06\_L2

SPAN = 60° - 0" TOP CHORD (2L) = 2.5" x 2.5" x 0.212" with 1.0" GAP BOTTOM CHORD (2L) = 2.0" x 2.0" x 0.216" with 1.0" GAP

Compression Web Members

W3 = 2.0" x 2.0" x 0.187" CRIMPED W5 = 1.75" x 1.75" x 0.155" CRIMPED W7 = 1.5" x 1.5" x 0.0.155" CRIMPED W9 = 1.5" x 1.5" x 0.155" CRIMPED W11 = 1.5" x 1.5" x 0.0.155" CRIMPED WEIGHT = 840 lb Tension and vertical members

W2 = 1.5" x 1.5" x 0.109" DOUBLE ANGLE W4 = 1.25" x 1.25" x 0.109" CRIMPED W6 = 1.0" x 1.0" x 0.109" STRAIGHT W8 = 1.0" x 1.0" x 0.0.109" STRAIGHT W10 = 1.0" x 1.0" x 0.0.109" STRAIGHT V1 =1.0" x 1.0" x 0.0.109" STRAIGHT V2 = 1.0" x 1.0" x 0.0.109" STRAIGHT

Figure 4.7. Geometric configurations of 32LH06 joists.

# 4.3.1 Comparison of in-plane K-factors for 32LH06 Joists

Tables 4.20 and 4.21 provide a comparison of the in-plane effective length *K*-factors for the two variations of 32LH06 joist investigated. Consistent with the previous studies, values close to 0.5 are obtained. The two variations appear to provide nearly identical values, with only slight differences due to the steepness of the first web member.

-0 -		In-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
wel vith		$I_z(in^4)$	0.1512	0.07844	0.04544	0.04544	0.04544
lal Ng V Sn <i>L</i>	V	Hand Calc.	0.54	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51
vidı klir give	K	$\operatorname{SEIC}^*$	0.54	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51
ndi 3uc	R	educed $I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.08769	0.06589	0.05317	0.02408	0.00504
I	K	Dist. Load	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.50	0.50
		In-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
eous ding		$I_z(in^4)$	0.08650	0.06389	0.043642	0.024013	0.005004
tane uck		Hand Calc.	0.53	0.51	0.51	0.50	0.50
mul sb b h re	Κ	Dist. Load	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.50	0.50
Si we wit		SEIC*	0.53	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.50

\* SEIC = <u>Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression</u>

Table 4.20. Results of K-factor in-plane buckling (32LH06 L1)

b iven		In-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
h g		$I_z$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	0.1512	0.07844	0.04544	0.04544	0.04544
lual wit I <sub>z</sub>	K	Hand. Calc.	0.54	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51
ivid ing		SEIC*	0.55	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.51
ckli	R	educed $I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.04082	0.06275	0.04364	0.02272	0.004998
Bud	Κ	Dist. Load	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.50	0.50
${\mathop{\rm gg}}_{I_z}$	In-Plane		1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
eou klin ced		$I_z(in^4)$	0.03995	0.06389	0.043642	0.024013	0.004977
lltan bucl edu		Hand. Cal.	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.50	0.50
imu /eb l ith r	Κ	Uniform Load	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.50	0.50
S W W		SEIC*	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.50

\* SEIC = <u>Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression</u>

Table 4.21. Results of *K*-factors for in-plane buckling (32LH06\_L2)

## 4.3.2 Comparison of out-of-plane K-factors for 32LH06 Joists

The out-of-plane *K*-factors for the two variations are provided in Table 4.22 and 4.23. As with the previous studies, three methods of analysis (uniformly loaded, hand method, and SEIC) were completed for each of the two cases, including members buckling individually (upper portions of the tables) and all web members buckling simultaneously (lower portion of the tables). In reviewing Tables 4.22 and 4.23, it is clear that these are the largest effective length *K*-factors (0.61 to 0.87) obtained in this research project. This data also show the largest variation between results obtained using uniformly distributed loading and the SEIC

loading, with the latter being a conservative approximation of the former. In general, the hand method continues to provide results that are consistent with the distributed loading critical load analyses. It does not appear that the steepness and/or length of the first compression member has a dramatic impact on the computed effective length *K*-factors.

0 1	(	Out-of-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
wel vitł		$I_y(in^4)$	0.1107	0.08917	0.0672	0.0672	0.0672
ual 1g v 2n L	V	Hand Calc.	0.71	0.73	0.71	0.71	0.66
vidı klir give	Λ	SEIC*	0.81	0.77	0.74	0.74	0.69
ndi <sup>y</sup> 3uc	Re	duced $I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.09963	0.07134	0.04368	0.02083	0.005712
I	Κ	Dist. Load	0.70	0.70	0.65	0.61	0.70
Jy so s	Out-of-Plane		1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
klin ced		$I_y(in^4)$	0.10516	0.075795	0.047041	0.0225	0.0059
lltan buc edu		Hand Calc.	0.71	0.72	0.67	0.60	0.52
imu 'eb ith r	Κ	Dist. Load	0.74	0.72	0.68	0.63	0.70
S & M		SEIC*	0.80	0.75	0.70	0.62	0.55

\* SEIC =  $\underline{S}$ elf- $\underline{E}$ quilibrating Induced  $\underline{C}$ ompression

Table 4.22. Results	of K-factors	for out-	of-plane	buckling	(32LH06_	_L1)	).
---------------------	--------------	----------	----------	----------	----------	------	----

9 1		Out-of-Plane	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
with		$I_y(in^4)$	0.1107	0.08917	0.0672	0.0672	0.0672
lal v gv l nu	v	Hand Calc.	0.78	0.73	0.71	0.71	0.66
vidı klir give	Λ	SEIC*	0.87	0.76	0.73	0.73	0.69
ndi <sup>v</sup> 3uc		Reduced $I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	0.04871	0.07134	0.0504	0.02218	0.00612
I	K	Dist. Load	0.71	0.69	0.69	0.61	0.70
$\operatorname{us}_{\eta}$	Out-of-Plane		1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web
klin		$I_y(in^4)$	0.048708	0.075	0.0504	0.0215	0.006
multar eb buc h redu		Hand Calc.	0.69	0.71	0.67	0.60	0.53
	K	Dist. Load	0.72	0.71	0.70	0.61	0.71
Si wi		SEIC*	0.78	0.75	0.70	0.61	0.55

\* SEIC = <u>Self-Equilibrating Induced Compression</u>

Table 4.23. Results of *K*-factors for out-of-plane buckling (32LH06\_L2).
	Out-of-plane K-factors For Individual Buckling							
mel	32LH06_L1 Joist	1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member		
Chord Pa Point	Originally, unrestrained out- of-plane	0.81	0.77	0.74	0.74	0.69		
ottom ]	Restrained out-of-plane	0.75	0.76	0.74	0.74	0.69		
B(	Difference (%)	7.93	1.40	0.39	0.12	0.05		

Table 4.24. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (32LH06\_L1).

	Out-of-plane K-factors For Individual Buckling							
anel	32LH06_L2 Joist	1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member		
t Chord P Point	Originally, unrestrained out- of-plane	0.87	0.76	0.73	0.73	0.69		
ottom	Restrained out of plane	0.82	0.75	0.74	0.73	0.68		
В	Difference (%)	5.42	1.52	1.26	0.00	1.12		

Table 4.25. Impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing (32LH06\_L2).

### 4.4 Summary of 1st Web Member Data for All Joists Investigated

In general, the effective length *K*-factor used in designing the first compression web member is often the largest when compared to the remaining compression web members. Tables 4.26 and 4.27 provide a summary of the in-plane and out-of-plane *K*-factors obtained by the three different methods of analysis employed in this study.

In regard to in-plane buckling (Table 4.26), this research suggests the use of an effective length of approximately K = 0.55. Given that the ends of the compression web members have been assumed as fully

restrained, which may not be consistent with field conditions, the true value is most likely significantly larger than 0.55, but also much less than K = 1.0 which conservatively assumes pinned-pinned connections.

In regard to out-of-plane buckling (Table 4.27), the computed effective length *K*-factors are much larger and in the range of 0.65 to 0.90. Although the analyses also assumed fully restrained connections in these cases, this assumption is probably fairly accurate given that the ends of the web members are welded (sandwiched) between the angle comprising the top and bottom chords. It is also important to note that the SEIC did provide the largest effective length *K*-factor (0.87), where the other methods resulted in values more consistently in the area of K = 0.80. It should also be noted that Yost, et al. (2004) suggested this value as a result of their experimental testing.

In-plane buckling K-factors for 1 <sup>st</sup> web member									
web members buckling individually				all web members buckling simultaneously					
Ioist	Hand	Dist.	SEIC*	Loist	Hand	Dist.	SEIC*		
JOISt	Calc.	Load	SEIC	5015t	Calc.	Load	SEIC		
18K3	0.52	0.51	0.52	18K3	0.51	0.52	0.51		
28K3	0.55	0.53	0.55	28K3	0.53	0.53	0.53		
32LH06_L1	0.54	0.52	0.54	32LH06_L1	0.53	0.52	0.53		
32LH06_L2	0.54	0.51	0.55	32LH06_L2	0.51	0.51	0.51		

\* SEIC : <u>Self-Equilibrating Induced-Compression</u>

Table 4.26. Summary of in-plane buckling *K*-factors for 1<sup>st</sup> web member.

Out-of-plane buckling K-factors for $1^{st}$ web member									
web members buckling individually				all web members buckling simultaneously					
Joist	Hand	Dist.	SEIC*	Loist	Hand	Dist.	SEIC*		
	Cal.	Load	SEIC	JUISt	Cal.	Load	SEIC		
18K3	0.66	0.63	0.69	18K3	0.69	0.67	0.67		
28K3	0.80	0.72	0.83	28K3	0.73	0.77	0.79		
32LH06_L1	0.71	0.71	0.81	32LH06_L1	0.71	0.74	0.80		
32LH06_L2	0.78	0.71	0.87	32LH06_L2	0.69	0.73	0.78		

\* SEIC : <u>Self-Equilibrating Induced-Compression</u>

Table 4.27. Summary of in-plane buckling *K*-factors for 1<sup>st</sup> web member.

## **Chapter 5: Summary and Conclusions**

#### 5.1 Summary

This study focuses on determining effective length *K*-factors in compression web members of open web steel joists. Current design provisions of the Steel Joist Institute (SJI) indicate that in many cases a value of K = 1.0 should be used, but they are aware that a limited number of recent experimental studies suggest that smaller values could be used. Given that the effective length *K*-factor is inversely proportional to the design strength of theses members, the potential for reducing these values could lead to larger capacities and perhaps for the design of more efficient systems that are still safe and reliable.

The research presented in this thesis employs three different methods for computing K-factors, including a hand calculation method based on the alignment charts, and two methods based on computational finite element procedure to perform critical load (eigenvalue) analyses. The latter two methods differ in the means by which the joists are loaded; one uses uniformly distributed loading and the other uses a novel approach called the self-equilibrating induced compression (SEIC) method. All three of these methods are described in detail within this thesis. The key to the hand calculation method is the accurate computation of the resisting stiffness of the joist members neighboring the ends of the compression web member of interest. The SEIC method is also well described in this thesis and essentially loads the compression web member of interest to the point of buckling through the use of an additional element that is parallel and connected to this web member. By subjecting this additional element to a thermal cooling, the actual web member of interest is compressed without loading any other members in the joist. By using this approach, the buckling behavior of the web member of interest is isolated and controlled allowing for the direct calculation of its effective length K-factor. The remaining computational method employed applies a uniformly distributed load to the joist and calculates the compressive force required to buckle the web member of interest. The effective length K-factor is then back-calculated from this force. This method is also used to determine the forces for two cases, one that only considers the

possibility of a single member buckling, and the other accounts for all compression web members in the joist buckling simultaneously.

Unfortunately, the time required to develop and fine-tune the above methods for computing *K*-factors significantly limited the number of joist configurations that could be studied to four, including 18K3 and 28K10 short span joists, and two variations of a long span 32LH06 joist. These joists include a mix of compression web members fabricated from round bar or crimped angles. Using these joists and the above methods for calculating effective length *K*-factors, both in-plane and out-of-plane buckling of the compression web members were investigated. All results are provided in tabular form, with specific details provided in the appendices to this thesis.

### **5.2** Conclusions

Based on the methods and joists studied in this research the following conclusions are made. It should be emphasized that only a limited number of joists were investigated in this work, and specific results and recommended values will most likely change to some degree when a comprehensive study of many more SJI joists configurations is undertaken.

- All three methods of analysis provided similar results. Given that the hand calculation method developed in this research is in close agreement with the computational results, it appears that this method could be used to compute effective length *K*-factors for compression web members without the need to perform detailed finite element analyses.
- 2) In-plane effective length *K*-factors for the compression web members were consistently calculated in the range of 0.51 to 0.60. Given that such values closely resemble those of a compression member with its ends restrained from rotation, it is evident that the in-plane flexural stiffness of the web members is significantly less than the resisting flexural stiffness offered by its neighboring top and bottom chords and tension web members.
- 3) In regard to out-of-plane buckling, it appears that again *K*-factors much less than unity prevail. For such a condition, this study produced values that ranged between K = 0.6 to 0.9, with most

values between 0.65 and 0.75. The increase in effective length *K*-factors (compared to the inplane values) can be attributed to a reduction in the resisting stiffness provided by the top and bottom chords. This reduction is the result of relying on the relatively small torsional resistance instead of the more significant flexural resistance of these chord members.

- 4) For the out-of-plane buckling studies, this research also investigated the impact of providing additional bottom chord bracing. Somewhat surprisingly, this modification seems to only have a small influence of 1% to 7% on *K*-factors computed for the compression web members.
- 5) In general, the largest *K*-factors were computed for the compression web member located closest to the ends of the joists, with the first compression member nearly always providing the largest values.
- 6) The possibility of all compression web members buckling simultaneously versus a single web member buckling individually seems to not impact the values of the computed in-plane and outof-plane *K*-factors.
- 7) Based on the very few joists investigated, it appears promising that an in-plane value of approximately K = 0.75 and an out-of-plane value of K = 0.85 could be used in computing the flexural compressive strength of compression web members. These values are very conservative when compared to the values computed by all the methods employed in this research.
- 8) The reason for the author's conservatism stems from the assumption that all of the web member to chord member connections have been modeled as fully restrained (rigid). In actual field conditions, these connections will most likely permit some degree of relative rotation between these members, which would result in a loss of stiffness provided by the resisting members (chords and tension members). This loss in connection restraint is probably less severe for the out-of-plane case because the ends of the web members are assembled within (sandwiched) between the double angles comprising the top and bottom chords. At the other extreme, these inplane and out-of-plane connections are clearly not pinned, which would result in the very conservative assumption of K = 1.0. To counteract the inclination that lack of connection restraint should increase the resulting *K*-factors, it is noted that all of the analyses performed in this

research assumed elastic behavior. It is expected that the compression web members may yield to some extent before the joist achieves a strength limit state. Yielding in the compression web member could decrease the relative stiffness between this member and it neighbors (top and bottom chords), thereby decreasing its effective length *K*-factor. In fact, this latter concept is the basis for the stiffness reduction factors often employed with the use of the alignment charts for computing effective length factors in building columns.

9) The research and additional future studies related to this topic could have several implications related to the design of open web steel joists. For cases in which the top or bottom chord controls the capacity of the joist, a reduction in the compression web members *K*-factors (thereby increasing their flexural buckling strengths) could permit the use of smaller section sizes, thereby resulting in a more efficient design. It should also be noted that using smaller compression web members will most likely have a minimal impact on the overall bending stiffness of the joist, and thus, service live load deflection requirements should continue to be met.

#### **5.3 Recommendations for Future Research**

As with any analytical study, several assumptions were made in this research that should be carefully reviewed for their implications. These assumptions are provided and discussed throughout the chapters of this thesis and are the basis for the below recommendations for future work.

- 1) The most important recommendation for future work is the need to investigate many more than the four joist configurations that were studied in detail as part of this research. Such a study should focus on a selection of joists for which there is large variation in the relative stiffness of the web members to the neighboring chord and tension members, which provide the stiffness that resists web member buckling.
- 2) The impact of assuming all connections to be fully restrained needs to be carefully assessed. This could be accomplished by using a few standard joist configurations such as the ones used in this study and then varying the web to chord connection stiffness from pinned to fully restrained.

- 3) Given that the web members in joists may be relatively short and stocky, they will most likely experience inelastic buckling. Through the use of a series of inelastic critical load analyses, the influence of yielding on the prediction of *K*-factors for web members should be assessed.
- 4) In all cases investigated in this study the bottom chord was braced out-of-plane at two or more panel points. This study did find that additional bracing of this type did not significantly change the effective length *K*-factors for the compression web members. The question remains, however, on what the computed *K*-factors would be if the bottom chord had no bracing. A systematic study investigating this topic could be useful.

# **Appendix A: Data for 18K3**

This appendix includes detailed data related to the determination of *K*-factors from the three methods employed in this study.

<i>K</i> -factors by H	and Calculation M	ethod, 18K3, In-Pl	ane Buckling, Indiv	idually	
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	1523.284	0.014	0.52	
I WED MEILIDEI	Bottom	440.6446	0.047	0.52	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	1508.957	0.014	0.51	
2 web Member	Bottom	795.8675	0.026	0.51	
2rd Web Marshar	Тор	1508.957	0.009		
3 web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.017	0.51	
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51	
4 web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.017	0.51	
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51	
5 web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.017	0.51	
(th West Manulau	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51	
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.017	0.51	

	1 <sup>st</sup> Compressi	ion Web Mem	ber, In-Plane	Buckling, Indiv	idually (18K3	)
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	
		Prop	erties of Top N	Aembers		
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279
	n	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]		
Elem. #1	4	41.3842				
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1523.284	10.346	0.01
		Proper	ties of Bottom	Members		
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498
Elem. #2	39.4591	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node
Elem. #1	4	41.3842		ן נע	nit: kip-in./ra	d.]
Elem. #2	4	22.0187		<i>k</i> <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		440.645	10.346	0.05

2 <sup>n</sup>	<sup>id</sup> Compressio	on Web Meml	ber, In-Plane	Buckling, Indivi	dually (18K3)	
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	
		Prope	rties of Top M	embers		
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279
	п	Bending				
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		Stillness of 10	op Node [Unit:	kip-in./rad.j
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	10.346	0.01
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members		
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node
Elem. #1	4	41.3842		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]		
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		795.868	10.346	0.03

3 <sup>r</sup>	<sup>•d</sup> Compressio	on Web Meml	ber, In-Plane l	Buckling, Indivi	dually (18K3)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794		
		Prope	rties of Top M	embers			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	
	п	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]			
Elem. #1	4	27.0572					
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	6.764	0.01	
		Propert	ies of Bottom I	Members			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node	
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]			
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub> (EI/L) <sub>web</sub> G <sub>Bottom</sub>			
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	6.764	0.02	

4	4 <sup>th</sup> Compress	ion Web Mem	ber, In-Plane	Buckling, Indiv	idually (18K3	)	
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794		
		Prop	erties of Top <b>N</b>	Aembers			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	
	п	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]			
Elem. #1	4	27.0572					
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	6.764	0.01	
		Proper	ties of Bottom	Members			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node	
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]			
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		<i>k</i> <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	6.764	0.02	

	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (18K3)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794			
		Prop	erties of Top <b>N</b>	Aembers				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794		
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279		
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279		
	п	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #1	4	27.0572						
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	6.764	0.01		
		Proper	ties of Bottom	Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794		
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542		
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542		
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node		
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		<i>k</i> <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	6.764	0.02		

6 <sup>t</sup>	6 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (18K3)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794			
		Prope	rties of Top M	lembers				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794		
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279		
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279		
	п	Bending		- Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.				
Elem. #1	4	27.0572						
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	6.764	0.01		
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794		
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542		
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542		
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node		
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		[Ui	nit: kip-in./rac	1.]		
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	6.764	0.02		

K-factors by Har	nd Calculation Me	thod, 18K3, In-Plan	e Buckling, Simul	aneously
Web Member of interest	Location of <i>k</i>	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Manhan	Тор	1523.284	0.011	0.51
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Bottom	440.6446	0.039	0.51
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	1508.957	0.009	0.51
2 web Wiember	Bottom	795.8675	0.018	0.31
2 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	1508.957	0.007	0.51
5 web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.014	0.31
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	1508.957	0.005	0.51
4 web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.010	0.31
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	1508.957	0.005	0.51
5 web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.010	0.31
6 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamher	Top 1508.957 0.003		0.003	0.50
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Bottom	781.5405	0.006	0.30

1 <sup>s</sup>	1 <sup>st</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.006225	0.00749	0.01498								
	Properties of Top Members												
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
	n	Bending			NT 1 111 4								
Elem. #1	4	41.3842		Stiffness of 1	op Node [Unit	: kip-in./rad.j							
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1523.284	8.599	0.01							
	·	Proper	ties of Bottom	Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498							
Elem. #2	39.4591	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
	п	Bending		Stiffn	less of Bottom	Node							
Elem. #1	4	41.3842		[U	nit: kip-in./ra	d.]							
Elem. #2	4	22.0187		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$							
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		440.645	8.599	0.04							

2 <sup>nd</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.0051	0.00749	0.01498								
	Properties of Top Members												
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
	п	Bending		SA:FE and of T	- Nodo III:4	lin in (mod l							
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		Summess of 10	op Node [Unit:	s kip-in./rau.j							
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	7.045	0.01							
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members									
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node							
Elem. #1	4	41.3842		[Ui	nit: kip-in./rac	1.]							
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$\overline{(EI/L)_{web}}$	$G_{Bottom}$							
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		795.868	7.045	0.02							

3 <sup>rd</sup>	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)													
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$									
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.0039666	0.004897	0.009794									
	Properties of Top Members													
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794								
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279								
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279								
	п	Bending		S4:ff. and of Ta										
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		Summess of 10	op Node [Unit	KIP-IN./rad.j								
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$								
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	5.479	0.01								
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members										
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794								
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542								
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542								
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node								
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		<b>[U</b> 1	nit: kip-in./rao	1.]								
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>								
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	5.479	0.01								

4 <sup>ti</sup>	<sup>h</sup> Compressio	n Web Memb	er, In-Plane B	Buckling, Simult	aneously (18K	(3)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.0027423	0.004897	0.009794								
	Properties of Top Members												
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
	п	Bending		S4:ff. and of T	on Node III								
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit	: kip-in./rad.j							
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	3.788	0.01							
		Proper	ties of Bottom	Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node							
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		[U	nit: kip-in./ra	d.]							
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$							
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	3.788	0.01							

5 <sup>t</sup>	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.0018119	0.004897	0.009794								
	Properties of Top Members												
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
	п	Bending		S4:ffmann of T	on Node III.								
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit	: kip-in./rad.j							
Elem. #2	4	740.9500		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	2.503	0.00							
		Proper	ties of Bottom	Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
	n	Bending		Stiffn	less of Bottom	Node							
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		[U	nit: kip-in./ra	d.]							
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$							
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	2.503	0.01							

6 <sup>th</sup>	6 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.0005632	0.004897	0.009794								
		Proper	ties of Top Me	embers									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279							
	п	Bending		Stiffering of Te	- Node III:4-	hin in /							
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		- Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./ra									
Elem. #2	4	740.9500	500 $k_{top}$ (EI/L) <sub>web</sub>			$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	740.9500		1508.957	0.778	0.001							
		Propertie	es of Bottom M	Iembers									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	20.9945	29000	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794							
Elem. #2	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
Elem. #3	24	29000	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542							
	п	Bending		Stiffne	ess of Bottom I	Node							
Elem. #1	4	27.0572		[Un	it: kip-in./rad	.]							
Elem. #2	4	377.2417		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$							
Elem. #3	4	377.2417		781.541	0.778	0.002							

K-factors by Hand Calculation Method, 18K3, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually												
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K								
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Mombor	Тор	49.28244	0.42	0.66								
1 web Member	Bottom	55.63276	0.37	0.00								
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.61	0.70								
2 web Member	Bottom	47.91987	0.43	0.70								
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.40	0.66								
5 web Member	Bottom	32.71513	0.41	0.00								
1 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.40	0.66								
4 web Meniber	Bottom	32.71513	0.41	0.00								
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.40	0.66								
5 web Member	Bottom	32.71513	0.41	0.00								
6 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.40	0.66								
o web Meniber	Bottom	32.71513	0.41	0.00								

	1 <sup>st</sup> (	Compres	sion Wel	o Me	ember, Out-o	f-Plane Buck	ling, Individ	ually (18K3)				
<i>L</i> (in.)	I	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
20.9945	12	29000	11153.	85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498					
	Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	69.7206			
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603			
	c	os(Φ )	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.938	3		Elem. #1	4	7.9585	41.38			
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	l		Elem. #2	4	1.5239	2278.92			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.5239	2278.92			
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
1503.07		45171	47.73		3107.15		49.282	10.346	0.42			
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers					
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	i)	G(ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	69.7207			
Elem. #2	39	9.4591	2900	0	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	98.9745			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8504			
	C	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.938	3		Elem. #1	4	7.9585	41.38			
Elem. #2	-	0.156	0.988	3		Elem. #2	4	4.2344	22.02			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43			
			Stiffr	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]					
α			6		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
439.68		3569	82.30		929.53		55.633	10.346	0.37			

	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (18K3)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	(ksi)	G (ksi	)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$						
20.9967	29	000	11153.8	35	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498						
	Properties of Top Members												
	L	(in.)	E (ksi	)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)				
Elem. #1	20.	9945	29000	)	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.72				
Elem. #2	2	24	29000	)	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.86				
Elem. #3	2	24	29000	)	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.86				
	cos	s(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending				
Elem. #1	0.	347	0.938			Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06				
Elem. #2	-0	.572	0.821			Elem. #2	4	1.5239	2278.92				
Elem. #3	0.	572	-0.821	-		Elem. #3	4	1.5239	2278.92				
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]												
α			β		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$				
1498.93	3	453	3153.74		3094.21		33.886	10.345	0.61				
				Pro	perties of Bo	ttom Membe	rs						
	L	(in.)	E (ksi	)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)				
Elem. #1	20.	9945	29000	)	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	69.72				
Elem. #2	,	24	29000	)	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.86				
Elem. #3	2	24	29000	)	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.86				
	cos	s(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending				
Elem. #1	0.	347	0.938			Elem. #1	4	7.9585	41.38				
Elem. #2	-0	.572	0.821			Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43				
Elem. #3	0.	572	-0.821			Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43				
			Stiffn	ess o	f Bottom Noc	le [Unit: kip	-in./rad.]	·					
α			β		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>				
858.05		144	0831.38		1778.53		47.920	10.345	0.43				

	3 <sup>rd</sup> (	Compres	sion We	b Me	ember, Out-o	of-Plane Bucl	kling, Individ	ually (18K3)					
<i>L</i> (in.)	ŀ	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$						
20.9966	2	29000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794						
	Properties of Top Members												
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)				
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208				
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603				
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603				
	c	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending				
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06				
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.5239	2278.92				
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.5239	2278.92				
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]													
α β γ							k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>top</sub>				
1498.93		4533	153.7		3094.21		33.886	6.764	0.40				
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers						
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)				
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208				
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603				
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603				
	c	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending				
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06				
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43				
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43				
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]						
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>				
853.90		1449	877.3		1765.59		32.715	6.764	0.41				

	4 <sup>th</sup> (	Compres	sion We	b Me	ember, Out-o	of-Plane Bucl	ding, Individ	ually (18K3)					
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$						
20.9959	2	29000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794						
	Properties of Top Members												
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)				
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208				
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603				
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603				
	c	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending				
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.20	27.06				
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.52	2278.92				
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.52	2278.92				
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]													
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>top</sub>				
1498.93		45331	53.98		3094.21		33.886	6.764	0.40				
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers						
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)				
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208				
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603				
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603				
	c	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending				
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06				
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43				
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43				
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]						
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>				
853.90		14498	377.73		1765.59		32.715	6.764	0.41				

	5 <sup>th</sup> (	Compres	sion We	b Mo	ember, Out-o	of-Plane Buck	ding, Individ	ually (18K3)				
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
20.9949	2	29000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794					
Properties of Top Members												
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	).9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208			
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Ф	)			n	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	3		Elem. #1	4	5.20	27.06			
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.52	2278.92			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.52	2278.92			
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]												
α		/	3		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
1498.93		45331	53.74		3094.21		33.886	6.764	0.40			
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers					
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208			
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Ф	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	3		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06			
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43			
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]					
α		/	3		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
853.90		14498	377.27		1765.59		32.715	6.764	0.41			

	6 <sup>th</sup> (	Compres	sion Wel	b Mo	ember, Out-o	of-Plane Bucl	ding, Individ	ually (18K3)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
20.9945	2	29000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794			
Properties of Top Members										
	<i>L</i> (in.) <i>E</i> (ksi) <i>G</i> (ksi) $I_z(\text{in.}^4)$ $I_y(\text{in.}^4)$ <i>J</i> (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (degree									
Elem. #1	20	).9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208	
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603	
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603	
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.938	3		Elem. #1	4	5.20	27.06	
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.52	2278.92	
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.52	2278.92	
	•		Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]			
α		/	3		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
1498.93		45331	53.74		3094.21		33.886	6.764	0.40	
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers			
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	20	).9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208	
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603	
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603	
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.938	3		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06	
Elem. #2	n. #2 -0.572 0.821		1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43		
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43	
	•		Stiffr	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]			
α		,	3		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
853.90		14498	377.27		1765.59		32.715	6.764	0.41	

K-factors by Hand Calculation Method, 18K3, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously											
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K							
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Momber	Тор	49.28244	0.374	0.60							
1 web Meniber	Bottom	55.63276	0.331	0.09							
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.405	0.64							
2 web Member	Bottom	47.91987 0.286		0.64							
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.293	0.62							
5 web Meniber	Bottom	32.71513	0.304	0.03							
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.192	0.50							
4 web Meniber	Bottom	32.71513	0.198	0.39							
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	33.88596	0.102	0.55							
5 web Meniber	Bottom	32.71513	0.106	0.55							
6 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	33.88596	0.038	0.52							
	Bottom	32.71513	0.040	0.32							

1	1 <sup>st</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)											
<i>L</i> (in.)	I	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
20.9945	14	29000	11153.	85	0.00749	0.00667	0.01498					
Properties of Top Members												
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	69.7206			
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	3		Elem. #1	4	7.96	41.38			
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.52	2278.92			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.52	2278.92			
			Stit	ffnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-i	in./rad.]					
α			6		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
1503.07		45171	47.73		3107.15		49.282	9.213	0.37			
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers					
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	69.7207			
Elem. #2	39	9.4591	2900	0	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	98.9745			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8504			
	С	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	3		Elem. #1	4	7.9585	41.38			
Elem. #2	-	0.156	0.988	3		Elem. #2	4	4.2344	22.02			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43			
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kip	o-in./rad.]					
α			3		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$			
439.68		3569	82.30		929.53		55.633	9.213	0.33			

2	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
20.9967	2	29000	11153.	.85	0.00749	0.00497	0.01498				
Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	20	).9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.72		
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.86		
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.86		
	С	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06		
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.5239	2278.92		
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.5239	2278.92		
			Stil	ffnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]				
α		/	в		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
1498.93		4533	153.7		3094.21		33.886	6.864	0.41		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.00749	0.00749	0.01498	69.72		
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.86		
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.86		
	С	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	7.9585	41.38		
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43		
Elem. #3	0.572 -0.821		1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43			
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
858.05		1440	831.4		1778.53		47.920	6.864	0.29		

3	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (18K3)											
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
20.9966	2	29000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.0036	0.009794					
Properties of Top Members												
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	).9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208			
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603			
	c	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.06			
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.5239	2278.92			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.5239	2278.92			
			Stil	ffnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]					
α		/	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
1498.93		45331	53.74		3094.21		33.886	4.972	0.29			
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers					
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208			
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603			
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.0572			
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43			
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43			
Stiffness of Bottom Node [Unit						ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]					
α		/	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>			
853.90		14498	377.27		1765.59		32.715	4.972	0.30			

4	<sup>th</sup> Co	ompressi	on Web	Men	nber, Out-of-	Plane Buckli	ing, Simultar	eously (18K3	3)	
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
20.9959	2	29000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.00235	0.009794			
	Properties of Top Members									
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208	
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603	
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603	
	c	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.938	3		Elem. #1	4	5.20	27.06	
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	l		Elem. #2	4	1.52	2278.92	
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.52	2278.92	
			Stil	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]			
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
1498.93		4533	153.7		3094.21		33.886	3.246	0.19	
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers			
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208	
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603	
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603	
	c	$os(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.938	3		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.0572	
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	l		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43	
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43	
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]			
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
853.90		1449	877.3		1765.59		32.715	3.246	0.20	

5	<sup>th</sup> Co	ompressi	on Web	Men	nber, Out-of-	Plane Buckl	ing, Simultar	eously (18K3	3)
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
20.9949	2	29000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.00125	0.009794		
Properties of Top Members									
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603
	с	$\cos(\Phi)$	sin(4	)			n	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.20	27.06
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.52	2278.92
Elem. #3	(	0.572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.52	2278.92
			Stil	fnes	s of Top Nod	le [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]		
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>top</sub>
1498.93		45331	53.74		3094.21		33.886	1.727	0.10
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers		
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	20	0.9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603
	с	$\cos(\Phi)$	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	0.347	0.93	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.0572
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43
Elem. #3	#3 0.572 -0.821		1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43	
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]		
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>
853.90		14498	377.27		1765.59		32.715	1.727	0.11

6	<sup>th</sup> Co	ompressi	on Web	Men	nber, Out-of-	Plane Buckli	ing, Simultar	eously (18K3	3)	
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	C (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
20.9945	2	9000	11153.	85	0.004897	0.00047	0.009794			
Properties of Top Members										
	<i>L</i> (in.) <i>E</i> (ksi) <i>G</i> (ksi) $I_z(\text{in.}^4)$ $I_y(\text{in.}^4)$ <i>J</i> (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (degree									
Elem. #1	20	).9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208	
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	124.8603	
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.1533	0.4715	0.003279	304.8603	
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	).347	0.938	8		Elem. #1	4	5.20	27.06	
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.52	2278.92	
Elem. #3	(	).572	-0.82	1		Elem. #3	4	1.52	2278.92	
			Stil	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]			
α		,	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
1498.93		4533	153.7		3094.21		33.886	0.649	0.04	
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers			
	1	(in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	20	).9945	2900	0	11153.85	0.004897	0.004897	0.009794	69.7208	
Elem. #2		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	124.8603	
Elem. #3		24	2900	0	11153.85	0.07805	0.2674	0.002542	304.8603	
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	).347	0.938	8		Elem. #1	4	5.2033	27.0572	
Elem. #2	-	0.572	0.82	1		Elem. #2	4	1.1814	1292.43	
Elem. #3	0.572 -0.821		1		Elem. #3	4	1.1814	1292.43		
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]			
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
853.90		1449	877.3		1765.59		32.715	0.649	0.04	

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for In-Plane Buckling (18K3)										
Buckling	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web	6 <sup>th</sup> Web				
Mode	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )									
Web	0.006600	0.004950	0.003869	0.002644	0.001616	0.000514				
Web	0.006675	0.005025	0.003918	0.002693	0.001665	0.000539				
Web (Control)	0.006750	0.005100	0.003967	0.002742	0.001714	0.000563				
Top Chord	0.006825	0.005175	0.004016	0.002791	0.001763	0.000588				
Top Chord	0.006900	0.005250	0.004065	0.002840	0.001812	0.000612				

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for Out-of-Plane Buckling (18K3)										
Buckling	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web	6 <sup>th</sup> Web				
Mode	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )									
Web	0.006075	0.004500	0.0034279	0.0022526	0.0012243	0.0002938				
Web	0.006150	0.004575	0.0034769	0.0023016	0.0012732	0.0003428				
Web (Control)	0.006225	0.004650	0.0035258	0.0023506	0.0013222	0.0003918				
Top Chord	0.006300	0.004725	0.0035748	0.0023995	0.0013712	0.0004407				
Top Chord	0.006375	0.004800	0.0036238	0.0024485	0.0014201	0.0004897				

# Appendix B: Data for 28K10

This appendix includes detailed data related to the determination of *K*-factors from the three methods employed in this study.

K-factors by Hand Calculation Method, 28K10, In-Plane Buckling, Individually											
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K							
1 St Wals Manulau	Тор	5071.437	0.04	0.55							
1 <sup>st</sup> web Member	Bottom	1323.463	1323.463 0.16								
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	6008.308	0.02	0.52							
2 web Member	Bottom	2473.2	0.05	0.32							
2 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	6008.308	0.01	0.51							
5 Web Weinber	Bottom	2475.717	0.03	0.31							
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	6008.295	0.01	0.51							
4 web Member	Bottom	2475.722	0.02	0.51							
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	6008.295	0.01	0.51							
5 web Wender	Bottom	2475.724	0.02	0.31							

	1 <sup>st</sup> Weł	o Member, In	-Plane Buckli	ng, Individually	7 (28K10)					
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
36.0212	29000	11153.85	0.1294	0.1003	0.004659					
Properties of Top Members										
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
Elem. #1	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981				
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482				
Elem. #3	35.0001	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482				
	п	Bending		Stiffmagg of T	on Nodo IIIn:t	. Irin in /wad l				
Elem. #1	4	59.8669		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit	: Kip-m./rau.j				
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$				
Elem. #3	4	2038.6113		5071.437	104.178	0.04				
		Proper	ties of Bottom	n Members						
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
Elem. #1	47.9997	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088				
Elem. #2	29.0266	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799				
Elem. #3	54.1338	29000	11153.85	0.0379	0.0379	0.0758				
	n	Bending		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node				
Elem. #1	4	1164.8406		ון	J <mark>nit: kip-in</mark> ./ra	d.]				
Elem. #2	4	77.4090		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$				
Elem. #3	4	81.2136		1323.463	104.178	0.16				

2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (28K10)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
36.0212	29000	11153.85	0.08171	0.08156	0.003942					
	Properties of Top Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
Elem. #1	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799				
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482				
Elem. #3	24.0001	29000	29000 11153.85		2.5199	0.02482				
	п	Bending								
Elem. #1	4	62.3787		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./ra						
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		k <sub>top</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{top}$				
Elem. #3	4	2972.9709		6008.308	65.783	0.02				
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members						
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799				
Elem. #2	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981				
Elem. #3	47.9997	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088				
Elem. #4	47.9996	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088				
	п	Bending								
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node				
Elem. #2	4	59.8669		[Ui	nit: kip-in./rae	1.]				
Elem. #3	4	1164.8406		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$				
Elem. #4	4	1164.8430		2473.200	65.783	0.05				

3 <sup>rc</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Compressio	n Web Memb	er, In-Plane B	Buckling, Individ	lually (28K10)				
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0212	29000	11153.85	0.04766	0.06341	0.003315				
	Properties of Top Members								
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	36.0208	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
Elem. #3	24.0001	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
	п	Bending		Stiffnang of Tom Node III					
Elem. #1	4	62.3784		Summess of 10	p Node [Unit:	. Kip-in./rau.j			
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
Elem. #3	4	2972.9709		6008.308	38.370	0.01			
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members					
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #3	47.9996	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
Elem. #4	47.9995	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
	п	Bending							
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node			
Elem. #2	4	62.3787		[Ui	nit: kip-in./rac	1.]			
Elem. #3	4	1164.8430		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
Elem. #4	4	1164.8455		2475.717	38.370	0.03			

4 <sup>t1</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Compressio	n Web Memb	er, In-Plane B	Buckling, Indivi	dually (28K1)	))		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0211	29000	11153.85	0.03561	0.04974	0.001199			
		Prope	rties of Top M	embers				
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	36.0209	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482		
Elem. #3	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	62.3782		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./ra				
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	2972.9586		6008.295	28.669	0.01		
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members				
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	36.0208	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	47.9995	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088		
Elem. #4	47.9994	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node		
Elem. #2	4	62.3784		ן [	J <b>nit: kip-in./r</b> ย	ıd.]		
Elem. #3	4	1164.8455		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1164.8479		2475.722	28.669	0.02		

5 <sup>tt</sup>	<sup>h</sup> Compressio	n Web Memb	er, In-Plane B	Buckling, Indivi	dually (28K1)	))		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0211	29000	11153.85	0.03561	0.04974	0.001199			
Properties of Top Members								
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	36.021	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482		
Elem. #3	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	62.3781		Stillness of 1	op Node [Uni	t: kip-in./rad.j		
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	2972.9586		6008.295	28.669	0.01		
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members				
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	36.0209	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	47.9994	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088		
Elem. #4	47.9994	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088		
	n	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node		
Elem. #2	4	62.3782		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1164.8479		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1164.8479		2475.724	28.669	0.02		

K-factors by Hand Calculation Method, 28K10, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously									
Web Member of interest	Location of <i>k</i>	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K					
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	5071.437	0.03	0.52					
	Bottom	1323.463	0.10	0.53					
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	6008.308	0.02	0.52					
	Bottom	2473.2	0.04	0.32					
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	6008.308	0.01	0.51					
5 Web Weinder	Bottom	2475.717	0.03	0.51					
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	6008.295	0.01	0.51					
4 web wiember	Bottom	2475.722	0.02	0.51					
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamban	Тор	6008.295	0.00	0.50					
5 web Wember	Bottom	2475.724	0.01	0.50					

r

1 <sup>st</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (28K10)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0212	29000	11153.85 0.079534 0.1003 0.004659						
Properties of Top Members								
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981		
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482		
Elem. #3	35.0001	29000	11153.85	2.5199	0.02482			
	п	Bending		Stiffnang of Tar Node Hurits him in /				
Elem. #1	4	59.8669		Summess of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./ra				
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	2038.6113		5071.437	64.031	0.03		
		Propertie	es of Bottom N	Iembers				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	47.9997	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088		
Elem. #2	29.0266	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	54.1338	29000	11153.85	0.0379	0.0379	0.0758		
	п	Bending		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node		
Elem. #1	4	1164.8406		[U	nit: kip-in./ra	d.]		
Elem. #2	4	77.4090		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #3	4	81.2136		1323.463	64.031	0.10		

2 <sup>nd</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (28K10)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0212	29000	11153.85	0.060465	0.08156	0.003942				
		Prope	rties of Top M	embers					
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
Elem. #3	24.0001	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
	п	Bending							
Elem. #1	4	62.3787		Summess of 1	op Node [Um	t: kip-m./rad.j			
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
Elem. #3	4	2972.9709		6008.308	48.679	0.02			
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members					
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981			
Elem. #3	47.9997	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
Elem. #4	47.9996	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
	п	Bending							
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiff	ness of Bottom	n Node			
Elem. #2	4	59.8669		ן ו	J <b>nit: kip-in./r</b> ะ	ad.]			
Elem. #3	4	1164.8406		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
Elem. #4	4	1164.8430		2473.200	48.679	0.04			

3 <sup>rd</sup>	Compression	Web Member	r, In-Plane Bu	ckling, Simulta	aneously (28K	10)			
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0212	29000	11153.85	0.045277	0.06341	0.003315				
	Properties of Top Members								
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	36.0208	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
Elem. #3	24.0001	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
	п	Bending							
Elem. #1	4	62.3784		Stillness of 1	op Node [Uni	t: kip-in./rad.j			
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
Elem. #3	4	2972.9709		6008.308	36.452	0.01			
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members					
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	36.0206	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #3	47.9996	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
Elem. #4	47.9995	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
	п	Bending							
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node			
Elem. #2	4	62.3787		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]					
Elem. #3	4	1164.8430		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
Elem. #4	4	1164.8455		2475.717	36.452	0.03			

	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression	Web Member,	In-Plane Buc	kling, Simultar	neously (28K1	0)				
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
36.0211	29000	11153.85	0.028844	0.04974	0.001199					
	Properties of Top Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
Elem. #1	36.0209	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799				
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482				
Elem. #3	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482				
	n	Bending		Stifferen of Tree Node Hurth 1 to to /						
Elem. #1	4	62.3782		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./r						
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$				
Elem. #3	4	2972.9586		6008.295	23.222	0.01				
		Propertie	es of Bottom N	<b>1embers</b>						
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799				
Elem. #2	36.0208	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799				
Elem. #3	47.9995	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088				
Elem. #4	47.9994	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088				
	n	Bending								
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node				
Elem. #2	4	62.3784		U	nit: kip-in./ra	d.]				
Elem. #3	4	1164.8455		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$				
Elem. #4	4	1164.8479		2475.722	23.222	0.02				

	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression	Web Member,	In-Plane Buc	kling, Simultar	neously (28K1	0)			
L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0211	29000	11153.85	0.01179	0.04974	0.001199				
Properties of Top Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	36.021	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
Elem. #3	24.0002	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482			
	n	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./					
Elem. #1	4	62.3781							
Elem. #2	4	2972.959		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
Elem. #3	4	2972.9586		6008.295	9.492	0.00			
		Propertie	es of Bottom M	<b>Iembers</b>					
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	26.861	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	36.0209	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #3	47.9994	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
Elem. #4	47.9994	29000	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088			
	n	Bending							
Elem. #1	4	83.6499		Stiffn	ess of Bottom	Node			
Elem. #2	4	62.3782		[U	nit: kip-in./ra	d.]			
Elem. #3	4	1164.8479		$k_{Bottom}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
Elem. #4	4	1164.8479		2475.724	9.492	0.01			

K-factors by Hand Calculation Method, 28K10, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually								
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K				
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	149.3942	1.39	0.80				
	Bottom	173.0999	1.20	0.80				
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	103.5639	1.27	0.74				
	Bottom	268.2717	0.49					
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	103.5639	0.74	0.68				
5 Web Weinder	Bottom	218.2549	0.35	0.08				
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	103.5639	0.55	0.66				
4 web Member	Bottom	218.2549	0.26	0.66				
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	103.5633	0.55	0.66				
5 web Member	Bottom	218.2549	0.26	0.00				

Г

	1 <sup>st</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (28K10)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	C (ksi)	G (ksi	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
36.0223	2	9000	11153.	85	0.1294	0.1003	0.004659		
Properties of Top Members									
	I	(in.)	E (ksi	)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	- 36	5.0216	2900	0	11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981	83.5576
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7786
Elem. #3	35	5.0003	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7786
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	1		Elem. #1	4	0.3036	115.71
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.746	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42
Elem. #3	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	7.9096	8351.60
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]								
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$
9126.17		103594	643.80		11540.30		149.394	104.174	1.39
				Pre	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers		
	I	(in.)	E (ksi	)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	47	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.78
Elem. #2	- 29	9.0266	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	64.05
Elem. #3	54	4.1338	2900	0	11153.85	0.0379	0.0379	0.0758	102.03
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #1	4	2.5282	4563.1785
Elem. #2	(	0.438	0.899	)		Elem. #2	4	0.3069	77.4090
Elem. #3	_	0.208	0.978	3		Elem. #3	4	15.6180	81.2136
			Stiffr	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]		•
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$
2060.68		50579	011.32		2679.57		173.100	104.174	1.20

2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (28K10)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)		G (ksi)		$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0228	29000		11153.85		0.08171	0.08156	0.003942			
Properties of Top Members										
	<i>L</i> (in.)		E (ksi)		G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	36.0206		29000		11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602	
Elem. #2	24.0002		29000		11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805	
Elem. #3	24.0001		29000		11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805	
	$\cos(\Phi)$		$sin(\Phi)$				п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	0.112		0.994			Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.38	
Elem. #2	-0.666		0.746			Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42	
Elem. #3	0.666		-0.746			Elem. #3	4	11.5349	12179.47	
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]										
α		,	β		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
10827.43	10827.43 14602		8460.79		13617.15		103.564	65.780	1.27	
Properties of Bottom Members										
	<i>L</i> (in.)		E (ksi)		G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	26.861		29000		11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804	
Elem. #2	36.0206		29000		11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981	83.5614	
Elem. #3	47.9997		29000		11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816	
Elem. #4	47.9996		29000		11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816	
	$\cos(\Phi)$		$sin(\Phi)$				п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	0.746		0.666			Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65	
Elem. #2	0.112		0.994			Elem. #2	4	0.3036	115.71	
Elem. #3	-0.666		0.746			Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18	
Elem. #4	lem. #4 0.666		-0.746			Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19	
Stiffness of Bottom Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]										
α		β		γ			k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>	
4102.85		20049342.80		5228.57			268.272	65.780	0.49	
	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (28K10)									
----------------	---	---------	---------	------	---------------------	---------------------------	---------------------------	-----------------------	------------------	--
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0228	2	9000	11153.	85	0.04766	0.06341	0.003315			
	Properties of Top Members									
	I	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602	
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805	
Elem. #3	24	4.0001	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805	
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.38	
Elem. #2	_(	0.666	0.740	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42	
Elem. #3	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	11.5349	12179.47	
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]			
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
10827.43	3	146028	8460.79		13617.15		103.564	38.368	0.74	
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers			
	Ι	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree )	
Elem. #1	2	6.861	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804	
Elem. #2	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5614	
Elem. #3	47	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816	
Elem. #4	47	7.9996	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816	
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ッ			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	).746	0.660	5		Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65	
Elem. #2	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #2	4	0.2473	62.38	
Elem. #3	Elem. #3 -0.666 0.746		5		Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18		
Elem. #4	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19	
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]	·	·	
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
4102.12		20102	539.29		5175.91		218.255	38.368	0.35	

	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (28K10)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	C (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0228	2	9000	11153.	85	0.03561	0.04974	0.001199				
	Properties of Top Members										
	$L$ (in.) $E$ (ksi) $G$ (ksi) $I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $J$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (degree)										
Elem. #1	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602		
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805		
Elem. #3	24	4.0001	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ッ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.38		
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.740	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42		
Elem. #3	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	11.5349	12179.47		
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]				
α		/	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
10827.43		146028	8460.79		13617.15		103.564	28.668	0.55		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	(in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	2	6.861	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804		
Elem. #2	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5614		
Elem. #3	47	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816		
Elem. #4	47	7.9996	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	り			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	).746	0.660	5		Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65		
Elem. #2	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #2	4	0.2473	62.38		
Elem. #3	n. #3 -0.666 0.74		0.740	5		Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18		
Elem. #4	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19		
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
4102.12		20102	539.29		5175.91		218.255	28.668	0.26		

:	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (28K10)									
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0228	2	29000	11153.	85	0.03561	0.04974	0.001199			
	Properties of Top Members									
<i>L</i> (in.) <i>E</i> (ksi) <i>G</i> (ksi) $I_z(\text{in.}^4)$ $I_y(\text{in.}^4)$ <i>J</i> (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (degree										
Elem. #1	36	5.0209	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602	
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805	
Elem. #3	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805	
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.3782	
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.74	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42	
Elem. #3	(	0.666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	11.5348	12179.42	
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]			
α		/	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
10827.41		146027	853.39		13617.12		103.563	28.668	0.55	
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers			
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	2	6.861	29000		11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804	
Elem. #2	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5614	
Elem. #3	47	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816	
Elem. #4	47	7.9996	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816	
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ソ			п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	).746	0.660	5		Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65	
Elem. #2	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #2	4	0.2473	62.38	
Elem. #3	-	0.666	0.740	5		Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18	
Elem. #4	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19	
			Stiffi	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]			
α		/	ß		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
4102.12		20102	539.29		5175.91		218.255	28.668	0.26	

K-factors by Hand Calculation Method, 28K10, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously											
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K							
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Manhan	Тор	149.3942	0.78	0.72							
1 web Member	Bottom	173.0999	0.67	0.75							
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Mombon	Тор	103.5639	0.65	0.66							
2 web Member	Bottom	268.2717	0.25	0.00							
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	103.5639	0.47	0.64							
5 web Wender	Bottom	218.2549	0.22	0.04							
1 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	103.5639	0.25	0.59							
4 web wiember	Bottom	218.2549	0.12	0.38							
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	103.5633	0.09	0.52							
5 web wiender	Bottom	218.2549	0.04	0.33							

15	1 <sup>st</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (28K10)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0223	2	29000	11153.	85	0.1294	0.072	0.004659				
Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	- 30	5.0216	2900	0	11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981	83.5576		
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7786		
Elem. #3	3:	5.0003	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7786		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	1		Elem. #1	4	0.3036	115.71		
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.740	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42		
Elem. #3	(	0.666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	7.9096	8351.60		
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
9126.17		103594	4643.77		11540.29		149.394	57.964	0.78		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	4'	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.78		
Elem. #2	29	9.0266	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	64.05		
Elem. #3	54	4.1338	2900	0	11153.85	0.0379	0.0379	0.0758	102.03		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	Elem. #1 0.666 -0.74		6		Elem. #1	4	2.5282	4563.18			
Elem. #2	Elem. #2 0.438 0.899		)		Elem. #2	4	0.3069	77.41			
Elem. #3	Elem. #3 -0.208 0.978		3		Elem. #3	4	15.6180	81.21			
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: ki	p-in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
2060.68		5057	911.3		2679.57		173.100	57.964	0.67		

2 <sup>n</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (28K10)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0228	2	29000	11153.	85	0.08171	0.042	0.003942				
	Properties of Top Members										
	<i>L</i> (in.) <i>E</i> (ksi) <i>G</i> (ksi) $I_z(\text{in.}^4)$ $I_y(\text{in.}^4)$ <i>J</i> (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (degree)										
Elem. #1	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602		
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805		
Elem. #3	24	4.0001	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ソ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.38		
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.740	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42		
Elem. #3	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	11.5349	12179.47		
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]				
α		,	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>top</sub>		
10827.43		146028	8460.79		13617.15		103.564	33.812	0.65		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	2	6.861	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804		
Elem. #2	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01859	0.03593	0.000981	83.5614		
Elem. #3	47	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816		
Elem. #4	47	7.9996	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ソ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.746	0.660	5		Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65		
Elem. #2	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #2	4	0.3036	115.71		
Elem. #3	lem. #3 -0.666 0.74		0.740	5		Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18		
Elem. #4	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19		
			Stiffi	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
4102.85		20049	342.80		5228.57		268.272	33.812	0.25		

3 <sup>re</sup>	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (28K10)									
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0228	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04766	0.03	0.003315			
	Properties of Top Members									
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	30	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602	
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805	
Elem. #3	24	4.0001	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805	
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	1		Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.3787	
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.746	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42	
Elem. #3	(	0.666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	11.5349	12179.47	
			Stif	fness	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-i	n./rad.]			
α		/	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
10827.43		146028	3460.79		13617.15		103.564	24.151	0.47	
				Pro	operties of Bo	ottom Membe	ers			
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	2	6.861	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804	
Elem. #2	30	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5614	
Elem. #3	4′	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816	
Elem. #4	4′	7.9996	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816	
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ッ			п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.746	0.666	5		Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65	
Elem. #2	. #2 0.112 0.994		1		Elem. #2	4	0.2473	62.38		
Elem. #3	Elem. #3 -0.666 0.746		6		Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18		
Elem. #4	(	0.666	-0.74	6		Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19	
			Stiffn	ess (	of Bottom No	de [Unit: kip	-in./rad.]			
α		/	ß		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
4102.12		20102	539.29		5175.91		218.255	24.151	0.22	

4 <sup>t</sup>	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (28K10)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi) $G$ (ksi			i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
36.0228	2	29000	11153.	85	0.03561	0.016	0.001199				
	Properties of Top Members										
<i>L</i> (in.) <i>E</i> (ksi) <i>G</i> (ksi) $I_z(\text{in.}^4)$ $I_y(\text{in.}^4)$ <i>J</i> (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (degree											
Elem. #1	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602		
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805		
Elem. #3	24	4.0001	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ソ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.3787		
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.740	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42		
Elem. #3	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	11.5349	12179.47		
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]										
α		,	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
10827.43	5	146028	8460.79		13617.15		103.564	12.881	0.25		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	2	6.861	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804		
Elem. #2	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5614		
Elem. #3	47	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816		
Elem. #4	47	7.9996	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ッ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	).746	0.660	5		Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65		
Elem. #2	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #2	4	0.2473	62.38		
Elem. #3	#3 -0.666 0.746		5		Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18			
Elem. #4	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19		
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>		
4102.12		20102	539.29		5175.91		218.255	12.881	0.12		

5 <sup>t</sup>	<sup>h</sup> Co	mpressio	on Web I	Mem	ber, Out-of-	Plane Buckli	ng, Simultan	eously (28K1	0)	
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi) $G$ (ksi)			i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
36.0228	2	29000	11153.	85	0.03561	0.0058	0.001199			
	Properties of Top Members									
$L$ (in.) $E$ (ksi) $G$ (ksi) $I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $J$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (degree									$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	36	5.0209	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5602	
Elem. #2	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	131.7805	
Elem. #3	24	4.0002	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.02482	311.7805	
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	り			п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #1	4	0.2473	62.3782	
Elem. #2	-	0.666	0.740	5		Elem. #2	4	11.5348	12179.42	
Elem. #3	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #3	4	11.5348	12179.42	
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]									
α		,	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
10827.41		146027	7853.39		13617.12		103.563	4.669	0.09	
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers			
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	2	6.861	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	41.7804	
Elem. #2	36	5.0206	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	83.5614	
Elem. #3	47	7.9997	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	131.7816	
Elem. #4	47	7.9996	2900	0	11153.85	0.482	1.8882	0.01088	311.7816	
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ッ			п	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	).746	0.660	5		Elem. #1	4	0.3317	83.65	
Elem. #2	(	0.112	0.994	4		Elem. #2	4	0.2473	62.38	
Elem. #3	n. #3 -0.666 0.746		5		Elem. #3	4	2.5282	4563.18		
Elem. #4	(	).666	-0.74	6		Elem. #4	4	2.5282	4563.19	
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]			
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>	
4102.12		20102	539.29		5175.91		218.255	4.669	0.04	

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for In-Plane Buckling (28K10)										
Buckling	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web					
Mode	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )									
Web	0.081522	0.06210	0.044324	0.027776	0.011039					
Web	0.082816	0.062917	0.044800	0.028132	0.011395					
Web (Control)	0.084110	0.063734	0.045277	0.028488	0.011751					
Top Chord	0.085404	0.064551	0.045754	0.028844	0.012107					
Top Chord	0.086698	0.065368	0.046230	0.029200	0.012464					

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for Out-of-Plane Buckling (28K10)										
Buckling	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web					
Mode	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )									
Web	0.0505	0.0240	0.0217	0.0125	0.0005					
Web	0.0606	0.0320	0.0248	0.0150	0.0025					
Web (Control)	0.0703	0.0400	0.0279	0.0175	0.0050					
Top Chord	0.0707	0.0480	0.0310	0.0200	0.0075					
Top Chord	0.0808	0.0560	0.0341	0.0225	0.0100					

r

Details for computing i	n-plane K-factors compression	according to hand web buckling (28	method and requi K10)	ring individual
Web Member of interest	Location of <i>k</i>	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	5071.437	0.04	0.55
1 web Member	Bottom	1323.463	0.16	0.55
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	6008.308	0.02	0.52
2 web Member	Bottom	2473.200	0.05	0.32
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	6008.308	0.01	0.51
5 web Member	Bottom	2475.717	0.03	0.51
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	6008.295	0.01	0.51
4 web Member	Bottom	2475.722	0.02	0.51
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	6008.295	0.01	0.51
5 web Member	Bottom	2475.724	0.02	0.31

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring individual compression web buckling (28K10)				
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.08411	66.83	0.53
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.06373	52.85	0.52
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.04528	37.87	0.51
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.02849	23.75	0.51
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.01175	9.99	0.51

104

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring individual compression web buckling (28K10)				
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.1294	93.41	0.55
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.08171	66.18	0.52
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.04766	40.01	0.51
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.03561	30.33	0.51
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.03561	30.27	0.51

Details for computing in	-plane K-factors a compression	ccording to hand me web buckling (28K	ethod and requiri (10)	ing simultaneous
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	5071.437	0.03	0.52
i web Member	Bottom	1323.463	0.10	0.55
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	6008.308	0.02	0.52
2 web Member	Bottom	2473.200	0.04	0.32
2rd Wah Mamhar	Тор	6008.308	0.01	0.51
3 web Member	Bottom	2475.717	0.03	0.31
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	6008.295	0.01	0.51
4 web Member	Bottom	2475.722	0.02	0.31
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	6008.295	0.00	0.50
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Bottom	2475.724	0.01	0.50

Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (28K10)				
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.079534	63.54	0.53
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.060465	50.30	0.52
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.045277	36.84	0.52
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0211	0.028844	23.17	0.52
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0211	0.011790	9.93	0.51

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (28K10)					
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.079534	61.43	0.53	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.060465	50.03	0.52	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.045277	38.01	0.51	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0211	0.028844	24.72	0.51	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0211	0.011790	10.28	0.50	

Details for computing ou	t-of-plane <i>K</i> -facto compressio	rs according to han 1 web buckling (281	nd method and req K10)	uiring individual
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	149.3942	1.39	0.80
i web Member	Bottom	173.0999	1.20	0.80
2 <sup>nd</sup> W/ab Marshar	Тор	103.5639	1.27	0.74
2 web Member	Bottom	268.2717	0.49	
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	103.5639	0.74	0.68
3 web Member	Bottom	218.2549	0.35	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	103.5639	0.55	0.66
	Bottom	218.2549	0.26	0.00
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	103.5633	0.55	0.66
5 web Member	Bottom	218.2549	0.26	0.00

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring individual compression web buckling (28K10)				
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_v(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0223	0.07030	29.59	0.72
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0228	0.04600	23.35	0.66
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0218	0.03150	17.16	0.64
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.01600	10.14	0.59
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0220	0.00625	4.54	0.55

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring individual compression web buckling (28K10)				
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_v(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0223	0.10030	32.34	0.83
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0228	0.08156	29.76	0.78
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0218	0.06341	24.62	0.75
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.04974	21.28	0.72
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0220	0.04974	20.91	0.72

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to hand method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (28K10)					
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	149.3942	0.78	0.72	
1 <sup>ar</sup> Web Member	Bottom	173.0999	0.67	0.75	
and Weth Mensher	Тор	103.5639	0.65	0.66	
2 web Member	Bottom	268.2717	0.25	0.00	
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	103.5639	0.47	0.64	
3 web Member	Bottom	218.2549	0.22	0.04	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	103.5639	0.25	0.59	
	Bottom	218.2549	0.12	0.38	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	103.5633	0.09	0.52	
	Bottom	218.2549	0.04	0.55	

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (28K10)				
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_y(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0223	0.0720	26.62	0.77
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0228	0.0420	21.08	0.66
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0218	0.0300	15.44	0.65
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.0160	9.71	0.60
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0220	0.0058	4.16	0.55

Details for computing out-of-plane K-factors according to uniformly distributed loading metho
and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (28K10)

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (28K10)					
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_{v}(\text{in.}^{4})$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	36.0223	0.0720	25.42	0.79	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	36.0228	0.0420	18.96	0.70	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	36.0218	0.0300	14.96	0.67	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0212	0.0160	9.79	0.60	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	36.0220	0.0058	4.37	0.54	

## Appendix C: Data for 32LH06\_L1

This appendix includes detailed data related to the determination of *K*-factors from the three methods employed in this study.

K-factors by hand calculation method, 32LH06_L1, In-Plane buckling, individually								
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K				
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	7274.391	0.03	0.54				
1 web Member	Bottom	1376.548	0.14	0.34				
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	8616.008	0.01	0.51				
	Bottom	2278.264	0.04	0.31				
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mombar	Тор	8616.008	0.01	0.51				
5 web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.03	0.31				
1 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mombar	Тор	8616.008	0.01	0.51				
4 web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.03	0.31				
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mombar	Тор	8681.796	0.01	0.51				
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.03	0.31				

	1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06_L1)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.1512	0.1107	0.007871			
	Properties of Top Members							
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	48	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	п	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad				
Elem. #1	4	45.878						
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	2944.9500		7274.391	95.389	0.03		
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members				
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	35.3412	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	68.884	29000	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	п	Bending		Stiff	ness of Botton	n Node		
Elem. #1	4	63.5779		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #2	4	231.8855		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		1376.548	95.389	0.14		

2 <sup>nd</sup> (	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06 L1)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.07844	0.08917	0.003942			
	Properties of Top Members							
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	n	Bending		S4:66	on Node III.	4. I		
Elem. #1	4	48.8807		Stillness of 1	op Node [Uni	t: kip-in./rad.j		
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	4283.564		8616.008	49.486	0.01		
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	n	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiffness of Bottom Node				
Elem. #2	4	45.8777		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2278.264	49.486	0.04		

3 <sup>rd</sup> (	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06 L1)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314			
	Properties of Top Members							
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	п	Bending		G4*66				
Elem. #1	4	48.8807		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit	t: kip-in./rad.j		
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	4283.564		8616.008	28.667	0.01		
		Properti	es of Bottom I	Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiffness of Bottom Node				
Elem. #2	4	48.8807		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2281.267	28.667	0.03		

4 <sup>th</sup> C	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06_L1)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314			
	Properties of Top Members							
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	n	Bending		Stiffnagg of T	on Nodo IIIni	h lin in /nod l		
Elem. #1	4	48.8807		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit	: KIP-In./rad.j		
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.008	28.667	0.01		
		Properti	es of Bottom <b>N</b>	Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	n	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiffness of Bottom Node				
Elem. #2	4	48.8807		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2281.267	28.667	0.03		

5 <sup>th</sup> C	ompression <b>V</b>	Web Member,	In-Plane Buc	kling, Individu	ally (32LH06_1	L1)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314			
	Properties of Top Members							
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	n	Bending		S4*66				
Elem. #1	4	114.6691		Stillness of 1	op Node [Unit	кip-in./rad.j		
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8681.796	28.667	0.01		
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members				
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	n	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiffness of Bottom Node				
Elem. #2	4	48.8807		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2281.267	28.667	0.03		

<i>K</i> -factors by Hand Calculation Method, 32LH06_L1, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously								
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K				
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	7274.391	0.020	0.52				
	Bottom	1376.548	0.080	0.55				
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	8616.008	0.010	0.51				
	Bottom	2278.264	0.040	0.31				
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	8616.008	0.010	0.51				
5 Web Weinder	Bottom	2281.267	0.020	0.51				
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	8616.008	0.004	0.50				
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.013	0.30				
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	8681.796	0.001	0.50				
	Bottom	2281.267	0.003	0.50				

1 <sup>st</sup>	1 <sup>st</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L1)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.086495	0.1107	0.007871				
	Properties of Top Members								
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098			
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997			
Elem. #3	48	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997			
	п	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad					
Elem. #1	4	45.878							
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
Elem. #3	4	2944.9500		7274.391	54.568	0.02			
		Proper	ties of Bottom <b>N</b>	Aembers					
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	35.3412	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	68.884	29000	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331			
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802			
	п	Bending		Stiffnes	s of Bottom No	ode			
Elem. #1	4	63.5779		[Uni	t: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #2	4	231.8855		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		1376.548	54.568	0.08			

2 <sup>nd</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06 L1)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.06389	0.08917	0.003942			
	Properties of Top Members							
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	п	Bending		Stiffnagg of T	on Nodo IIInite	hin in /red 1		
Elem. #1	4	48.8807		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit:	kip-m./rad.j		
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.008	40.307	0.01		
		Proper	ties of Bottor	m Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiffness of Bottom Node				
Elem. #2	4	45.8777		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>		
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2278.264	40.307	0.04		

3 <sup>rd</sup>	Compression	Web Member,	In-Plane Buc	kling, Simultan	eously (32LH06	L1)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.043642	0.0672	0.003314			
	Properties of Top Members							
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	п	Bending		S4:ffmann of T	See Node III.			
Elem. #1	4	48.8807		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./ra				
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.008	27.533	0.01		
		Proper	ties of Botton	n Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiffness of Bottom Node				
Elem. #2	4	48.8807		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2281.267	27.533	0.02		

4 <sup>th</sup>	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06 L1)						
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.024013	0.0672	0.003314		
		Prop	erties of Top	Members			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	
	п	Bending		Stiffnagg of T	on Nodo IIInite	hin in /red 1	
Elem. #1	4	48.8807		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rac			
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.008	15.149	0.00	
		Proper	ties of Bottor	n Members			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in.^4)$	
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	
	п	Bending					
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiffness of Bottom Node			
Elem. #2	4	48.8807		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]			
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2281.267	15.149	0.01	

5 <sup>th</sup>	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L1)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.005004	0.0672	0.003314			
	Properties of Top Members							
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314		
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	114.6691		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rac				
Elem. #2	4	4283.564		$k_{top}$	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{top}$		
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8681.796	3.157	0.00		
		Proper	ties of Bottor	n Members				
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
Elem. #1	32	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #2	45.9674	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799		
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802		
	п	Bending						
Elem. #1	4	70.2163		Stiff	ness of Bottom N	lode		
Elem. #2	4	48.8807		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]				
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2281.267	3.157	0.00		

<i>K</i> -factors by Hand Calculation Method, 32LH06_L1, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually												
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K								
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	119.5673	1.17	0.71								
1 web Member	Bottom	420.5478	0.33	0.71								
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	90.54967	1.24	0.72								
2 web Member	Bottom	251.2449	0.45	0.75								
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	90.54967	0.94	0.71								
5 Web Weinder	Bottom	207.4227	0.41	0.71								
1 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	90.54967	0.94	0.71								
4 web Member	Bottom	207.4227	0.41	0.71								
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	209.7138	0.40	0.66								
5 web Member	Bottom	207.4227	0.41	0.00								

1 <sup>st</sup>	Con	npression	n Web M	emb	er, Out-of-P	lane Buckling	g, Individual	ly (32LH06_1	L <b>1</b> )		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
45.9674	(2	29000	11153.	85	0.1512	0.1107	0.007871				
				F	Properties of	Top Member	rs				
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1		66	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814		
Elem. #2	43	5.9674	74 29000		11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	91.7628		
Elem. #3		48	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	-	0.718	0.696	5		Elem. #1	4	5.0649	7308.35		
Elem. #2	1	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.2378	95.87		
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	6.9642	10048.98		
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
8951.80		75194	719.82		8513.67		119.567	69.839	1.17		
				Pr	operties of <b>B</b>	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	3:	5.3412	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	71.00		
Elem. #2	6	8.884	2900	0	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331	108.20		
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.88		
	с	$os(\Phi)$	$sin(\mathbf{q})$	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.326	0.945	5		Elem. #1	4	0.2521	63.58		
Elem. #2	-	0.312	0.950	)		Elem. #2	4	0.3774	1121.20		
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92		
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$		
2401.30		63725	501.89		3217.22		420.548	69.839	0.33		

2 <sup>nd</sup>	Con	npressio	n Web M	lemł	oer, Out-of-P	lane Bucklin	g, Individual	ly (32LH06_	L1)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
45.9674	2	29000	11153.	85	0.07844	0.08917	0.003942				
				P	Properties of	Top Member	rs				
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	43	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628		
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814		
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	り			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.99	)		Elem. #1	4	0.1938	48.88		
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.69	5		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α		,	3 γ		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>top</sub>		
15076.40	)	213193	3804.54		14226.34		90.550	56.256	1.24		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1		32	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8814		
Elem. #2	4	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	91.7628		
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814		
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ッ			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	).696	0.71	3		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22		
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.00	)		Elem. #2	4	0.2378	95.87		
Elem. #3	-	0.718	0.69	5		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92		
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92		
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]				
α			ß		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>		
4603.72		19277	523.38		4429.10		251.245	56.256	0.45		

3 <sup>rd</sup>	Con	npression	n Web M	lemt	oer, Out-of-P	lane Bucklin	g, Individual	ly (32LH06_	L1)			
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
45.9674	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314					
	Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	43	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814			
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.999	)		Elem. #1	4	0.1938	48.8807			
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.69	5		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]												
α		ļ	в				$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
15076.40	)	213193	8804.54		14226.34		90.550	42.395	0.94			
	Properties of Bottom Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1		32	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8814			
Elem. #2	4	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814			
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ッ			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	).696	0.718	3		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22			
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.1938	48.88			
Elem. #3	-	0.718	0.69	5		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92			
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92			
			Stil	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]					
α		ļ	ß		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
4603.63		19264	850.62		4382.15		207.423	42.395	0.41			

4 <sup>th</sup>	Con	pression	n Web M	lemt	oer, Out-of-P	lane Bucklin	g, Individual	ly (32LH06_1	L1)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	C (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
45.9674	2	9000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314				
				F	Properties of	Top Member	15				
	1	(in.)	E (ksi	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	43	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628		
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814		
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.999	)		Elem. #1	4	0.1938	48.88		
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.696	6		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α		,	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
15076.40	)	213193	3804.54		14226.34		90.550	42.395	0.94		
				F	Properties of	Top Member	<b>*S</b>				
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1		32	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8813		
Elem. #2	45	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628		
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814		
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814		
	c	os(Ø)	sin( <i>4</i>	))			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	).696	0.718	3		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22		
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.1938	48.88		
Elem. #3	_	0.718	0.696	5		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92		
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92		
			Stif	fnes	s of Top Nod	e [Unit: kip-	in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
4603.63		19264	850.58		4382.15		207.423	42.395	0.41		

5 <sup>th</sup>	Con	npression	n Web M	lemt	oer, Out-of-P	lane Bucklin	g, Individual	ly (32LH06_	L1)			
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
45.9674	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314					
	Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	4	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314	91.7628			
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814			
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	り			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.999	9		Elem. #1	4	0.8041	169.58			
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.69	5		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]												
α	ß		3		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
15077.12	2	213301	645.89		14346.93		209.714	42.395	0.40			
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers					
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1		32	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8814			
Elem. #2	4	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814			
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	り			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.696	0.718	8		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22			
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.1938	48.88			
Elem. #3	-	0.718	0.69	5		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92			
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92			
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kip	o-in./rad.]					
α		ļ	ß		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$			
4603.63		19264	850.62		4382.15		207.423	42.395	0.41			

K-factors by Hand Ca	llculation Method,	32LH06_L1, Out-0	of-Plane Buckling, S	Simultaneously
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./Rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Momber	Тор	119.5673	1.11	0.71
1 web Member	Bottom	420.5478	0.32	0.71
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	90.54967	1.06	0.72
2 web Member	Bottom	251.2449	0.38	0.72
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	90.54967	0.66	0.67
5 Web Weinder	Bottom	207.4227	0.29	0.07
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	90.54967	0.31	0.60
4 Web Member	Bottom	207.4227	0.14	0.00
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	209.7138	0.04	0.52
	Bottom	207.4227	0.04	0.32

1 <sup>st</sup> C	omp	ression <b>`</b>	Web Mei	mbe	r, Out-of-Pla	ne Buckling,	Simultaneou	ısly (32LH06	_L1)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
45.9674	2	29000	11153.	85	0.1512	0.10516	0.007871				
				P	Properties of	Top Member	rs				
$L$ (in.) $E$ (ksi) $G$ (ksi) $I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $J$ (in. <sup>4</sup> ) $\Phi$ (c									$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1		66	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814		
Elem. #2	4.	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	91.7628		
Elem. #3		48	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	-	0.718	0.696	5		Elem. #1	4	5.0649	7308.35		
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.2378	95.87		
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	6.9642	10048.98		
Stiffness of Top Node [unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
8951.797	1	75194	719.8		8513.7		119.567	66.344	1.11		
				Pr	operties of <b>B</b>	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	3:	5.3412	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	71.00		
Elem. #2	6	8.884	2900	0	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331	108.20		
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.88		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.326	0.945	5		Elem. #1	4	0.2521	63.5779		
Elem. #2	-	0.312	0.950	)		Elem. #2	4	0.3774	1121.2009		
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.9152		
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [unit: kip	o-in./rad.]				
α			ß		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>		
2401.30		63725	501.89		3217.22		420.548	66.344	0.32		

2 <sup>nd</sup> (	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L1)											
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
45.9674	2	9000	11153.	85	0.07844	0.075795	0.003942					
Properties of Top Members												
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	45	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814			
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.999	9		Elem. #1	4	0.1938	48.8807			
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.69	5		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Elem. #3	(	).718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Stiffness of Top Node [unit: kip-in./rad.]												
α	β		в	γ			k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
15076.40	)	213193804.54			14226.34		90.550	47.818	1.06			
	Properties of Bottom Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	Φ (degree)			
Elem. #1		32	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8814			
Elem. #2	45	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	91.7628			
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814			
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	).696	0.718	8		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22			
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.2378	95.87			
Elem. #3	-	0.718	0.690	6		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92			
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92			
			Stiff	ness	of Bottom N	ode [unit: kip	o-in./rad.]					
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>			
4603.72		19277	523.38		4429.10		251.245	47.818	0.38			

3 <sup>rd</sup> C	Comp	oression	Web Me	mbe	r, Out-of-Pla	ne Buckling,	Simultaneou	isly (32LH06	_L1)			
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
45.9674	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.047041	0.003314					
				P	Properties of	Top Member	rs					
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	4	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814			
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			n	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.999	)		Elem. #1	4	0.1938	48.8807			
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.696	6		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Stiffness of Top Node [unit: kip-in./rad.]												
α	β		в	γ			$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
15076.40	)	213193	8804.54		14226.34		90.550	29.677	0.66			
	Properties of Bottom Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	Φ (degree)			
Elem. #1		32	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8814			
Elem. #2	4	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814			
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	ワ			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	).696	0.718	3		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22			
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.1938	48.88			
Elem. #3	-	0.718	0.696	5		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92			
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92			
			Stiff	ness	of Bottom No	ode [unit: kip	o-in./rad.]					
α			<i>B</i>		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>			
4603.63		19264	850.62		4382.15		207.423	29.677	0.29			

4 <sup>th</sup> C	Comp	oression	Web Me	mbe	r, Out-of-Pla	ne Buckling,	Simultaneou	usly (32LH06	_L1)			
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ksi	)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
45.9674	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0225	0.003314					
	Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	Φ (degree)			
Elem. #1	4	5.9674	29000	)	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #2		33	29000	)	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814			
Elem. #3		33	29000	)	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.999	)		Elem. #1	4	0.1938	48.8807			
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.696	)		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	5		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Stiffness of Top Node [unit: kip-in/rad.]												
α	β		в	γ			$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
15076.40	)	213193	8804.54		14226.34		90.550	14.195	0.31			
	Properties of Bottom Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1		32	29000	)	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8813			
Elem. #2	4	5.9674	29000	)	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #3		66	29000	)	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814			
Elem. #4		66	29000	)	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	0.696	0.718	;		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22			
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.1938	48.88			
Elem. #3	-	0.718	0.696	)		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92			
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	5		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92			
			Stiff	ness	of Bottom N	ode [unit: kij	p-in/rad.]					
α		/	ß	γ			k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>			
4603.63		19264	850.58		4382.15		207.423	14.195	0.14			

5 <sup>th</sup> C	Comp	oression	Web Me	mbe	r, Out-of-Pla	ne Buckling,	Simultaneou	usly (32LH06	_L1)			
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
45.9674	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0059	0.003314					
	Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)			
Elem. #1	43	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314	91.7628			
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	135.8814			
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	315.8814			
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	-	0.031	0.999	)		Elem. #1	4	0.8041	169.5811			
Elem. #2	-	0.718	0.690	5		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Elem. #3	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70			
Stiffness of Top Node [unit: kip-in/rad.]												
α	β		3		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
15077.12	2 213301645.89		645.89		14346.93		209.714	3.722	0.04			
	Properties of Bottom Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	Φ (degree)			
Elem. #1		32	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	45.8814			
Elem. #2	43	5.9674	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	91.7628			
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	135.8814			
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	315.8814			
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending			
Elem. #1	(	).696	0.718	3		Elem. #1	4	0.2784	70.22			
Elem. #2	-	0.031	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.1938	48.88			
Elem. #3	-	0.718	0.690	5		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92			
Elem. #4	(	0.718	-0.69	6		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92			
			Stiff	ness	of Bottom N	ode [unit: kij	p-in/rad.]	·				
α		/	6		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>			
4603.63		19264	850.62		4382.15		207.423	3.722	0.04			

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for In-Plane Buckling (32LH06_L1)							
Buckling	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web		
Mode	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )						
Web	0.084672	0.064321	0.052256	0.023174	0.004589		
Web	0.086184	0.065105	0.052710	0.023629	0.004817		
Web (Control)	0.087696	0.065890	0.053165	0.024083	0.005044		
Top Chord	0.089208	0.066674	0.053619	0.024538	0.005271		
Top Chord	0.090720	0.067458	0.054074	0.024992	0.005498		

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for Out-of-Plane Buckling (32LH06_L1)							
Buckling	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web		
Mode	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )						
Web	0.08856	0.062419	0.036961	0.014112	0.005040		
Web	0.094095	0.066878	0.040321	0.017472	0.005376		
Web (Control)	0.099630	0.071336	0.043681	0.020832	0.005712		
Top Chord	0.105165	0.075795	0.047041	0.024192	0.006048		
Top Chord	0.110700	0.080253	0.050401	0.027552	0.006384		

Details for computing	in-plane <i>K</i> -factors compressio	s according to hand n web buckling (281	method and requin K10)	ring individual
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Woh Mombor	Тор	7274.391	0.03	0.54
i web Meniber	Bottom	1376.548	0.14	0.34
2 <sup>nd</sup> W/-1. Manulau	Тор	8616.008	0.01	0.51
2 web Member	Bottom	2278.264	0.04	
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	8616.008	0.01	0.51
3 web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.03	0.31
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	8616.008	0.01	0.51
4 web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.03	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Manhan	Тор	8681.796	0.01	0.51
5 web Weinder	Bottom	2281.267	0.03	0.31

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)						
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K		
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.08770	44.40	0.52		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.06589	34.42	0.51		
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.05317	27.94	0.51		
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.02408	12.87	0.50		
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.00504	2.722	0.50		

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)						
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K		
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.1512	69.21	0.54		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.07844	39.92	0.52		
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.04544	23.75	0.51		
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.04544	23.75	0.51		
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.04544	23.75	0.51		

Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to SEIC method and requiring individua	al
compression web buckling (32LH06 L1)	

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to hand method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)						
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K		
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	7274.391	0.020	0.52		
i web Weinder	Bottom	1376.548	0.080	0.53		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	8616.008	0.010	0.51		
	Bottom	2278.264	0.040			
2 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	8616.008	0.010	0.51		
5 web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.020			
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	8616.008	0.004	0.50		
4 web Member	Bottom	2281.267	0.013	0.50		
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Marshar	Тор	8681.796	0.001	0.50		
5 web Weinder	Bottom	2281.267	0.003	0.30		

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)						
Web Member of interest	L(in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}$ (kip)	K		
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.086495	43.68	0.52		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.063890	33.33	0.51		
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.043642	23.07	0.51		
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.024013	12.83	0.50		
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.005004	2.691	0.50		

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)						
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K		
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.086495	42.36	0.53		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.063890	32.88	0.51		
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.043642	22.84	0.51		
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.024013	12.76	0.51		
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.005004	2.701	0.50		

Details for computing or	ut-of-plane K-facto compression	ors according to har web buckling (32K)	nd method and requ 06_L1)	uiring individual
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	119.5673	1.17	0.71
1 web Member	Bottom	420.5478	0.33	0.71
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	Тор	90.54967	1.24	0.73
2 web Member	Bottom	251.2449	0.45	
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	90.54967	0.94	0.71
5 web Member	Bottom	207.4227	0.41	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	90.54967	0.94	0.71
	Bottom	207.4227	0.41	0.71
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	209.7138	0.40	0.66
	Bottom	207.4227	0.41	0.00

г

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method
and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)

Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_{v}(\text{in.}^{4})$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.0895	24.71	0.70
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.0730	20.29	0.70
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.0418	13.23	0.65
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.0215	7.84	0.61
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.0059	1.64	0.70

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)									
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_y(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K					
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.11070	22.87	0.81					
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.08917	20.53	0.77					
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.06720	16.60	0.74					
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.06720	16.73	0.74					
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.06720	18.87	0.69					

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to hand method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)									
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K					
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	119.5673	1.11	0.71					
1 web Member	Bottom	420.5478	0.32	0.71					
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	90.54967	1.06	0.72					
2 web Member	Bottom	251.2449	0.38	0.72					
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	90.54967	0.66	0.67					
3 web Member	Bottom	207.4227	0.29	0.07					
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	90.54967	0.31	0.60					
4 web Member	Bottom	207.4227	0.14	0.00					
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	209.7138	0.04	0.52					
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Bottom	207.4227	0.04	0.32					

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)									
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_v(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K					
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.105160	26.15	0.74					
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.075795	19.96	0.72					
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.047041	13.81	0.68					
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.022500	7.68	0.63					
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.005900	1.61	0.70					

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L1)										
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_y(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K						
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.10516	22.02	0.80						
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.07580	18.35	0.75						
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.04704	13.07	0.70						
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.02250	8.01	0.62						
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.9674	0.00590	2.66	0.55						

Details for computing and of plane *V* for these according to SELC mothed and requiring

## Appendix D: Data for 32LH06\_L2

This appendix includes detailed data related to the determination of *K*-factors from the three methods employed in this study.

K-factors by Hand Calculation Method, 32LH06_L2, In-Plane Buckling, Individually									
Web Member of interest	Location of <i>k</i>	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K					
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	7954.89	0.03	0.54					
	Bottom	1726.64	0.14	0.34					
and Wate Manufact	Тор	8616.97	0.01	0.51					
2 web Member	Bottom	2628.04	0.04	0.31					
2rd Wah Mambar	Тор	8616.97	0.01	0.51					
5 web Member	Bottom	2285.16	0.03	0.31					
1 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	8616.97	0.01	0.51					
4 web Member	Bottom	2285.16	0.03	0.31					
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	8684.04	0.01	0.51					
5 web Member	Bottom	2285.16	0.03	0.31					

	1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06_L2)									
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$					
35.1083	29000	11153.85	0.1512	0.1107	0.007871					
	Properties of Top Members									
	L (in.) E (ksi) G (ksi) $I_z(\text{in.}^4)$ $I_y(\text{in.}^4)$ J (in. <sup>4</sup> )									
Elem. #1	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997				
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098				
Elem. #3	39	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997				
	n	Bending		Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.						
Elem. #1	4	4283.56								
Elem. #2	4	46.78		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$				
Elem. #3	4	3624.55		7954.894	124.894	0.03				
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members						
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
Elem. #1	37.7835	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799				
Elem. #2	66.5176	29000	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331				
Elem. #3	50	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802				
	п	Bending		Stiffness of	of Bottom No	de				
Elem. #1	4	59.47		[Unit:	kip-in./rad.]					
Elem. #2	4	240.13		k <sub>bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$				
Elem. #3	4	1427.03		1726.635	124.894	0.14				

2 <sup>nd</sup> (	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06 L2)						
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.07844	0.08917	0.003942		
		Prope	rties of Top N	lembers			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in.^4)$	
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	
	n	Bending		Stifferen of Tors N		in (us d l	
Elem. #1	4	49.8382		Summess of Top N	ode [Unit: kip	-in./rad.j	
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$	
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.97	50.456	0.01	
		Propert	ties of Bottom	Members			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in.^4)$	
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	
Elem. #3	50	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	
	n	Bending			•		
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiffness o	of Bottom Nod	e	
Elem. #2	4	46.7764		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]			
Elem. #3	4	1427.0320		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$	
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2628.04	50.456	0.04	

3 <sup>rd</sup>	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06 L2)					
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314	
		Prope	erties of Top M	lembers		
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997
	п	Bending		G4*66	Care NL da HUA'4	
Elem. #1	4	49.8382		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit	: kip-in./rad.j
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.97	29.229	0.01
		Proper	ties of Bottom	Members		
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802
	п	Bending				
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node
Elem. #2	4	49.8382		ן	J <mark>nit: kip-in./ra</mark>	d.]
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2285.15	29.229	0.03

4 <sup>th</sup> (	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06 L2)						
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$		
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314		
		Proper	rties of Top M	embers			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_v$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	
	n	Bending		Stiff- one of T	an Nada III		
Elem. #1	4	49.8382		Stillness of 1	op Node [Unit:	kip-in./rad.j	
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{top}$	
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.965	29.229	0.01	
		Properti	ies of Bottom I	Members			
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$	
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	
	п	Bending					
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiffr	ess of Bottom	Node	
Elem. #2	4	49.8382		ון	Init: kip-in./rad	l.]	
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$	
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2285.155	29.229	0.03	

5 <sup>th</sup> (	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06_L2)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$				
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314				
	Properties of Top Members								
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314			
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997			
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997			
	п	Bending		Stiffer and of T	on Nodo III				
Elem. #1	4	116.9152		Stillness of 1	op Node [Unit:	kip-in./rad.j			
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$			
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8684.042	29.229	0.01			
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members					
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$			
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799			
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802			
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802			
	п	Bending							
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiffn	ess of Bottom N	Node			
Elem. #2	4	49.8382		[U	nit: kip-in./rad	.]			
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>			
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2285.155	29.229	0.03			

<i>K</i> -factors by Hand Calculation Method, 32LH06_L2, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously									
Web Member of interest	Location of <i>k</i>	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	Κ					
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	7954.89	0.008	0.51					
	Bottom	1726.64	0.038	0.51					
ond we have the	Тор	8616.97	0.010	0.51					
2 web Member	Bottom	2628.04	0.031	0.51					
2 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	8616.97	0.007	0.51					
5 web Member	Bottom	2285.16	0.025	0.51					
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Manhan	Тор	8616.97	0.004	0.50					
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Bottom	2285.16	0.014	0.50					
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	8684.04	0.001	0.50					
5 web Member	Bottom	2285.16	0.003	0.50					

1 <sup>st</sup> Co	1 <sup>st</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L2)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
35.1083	29000	11153.85	0.03995	0.1107	0.007871								
	Properties of Top Members												
	L (in.) E (ksi) G (ksi) $I_z(\text{in.}^4)$ $J_y(\text{in.}^4)$ J (in. <sup>4</sup> )												
Elem. #1	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098							
Elem. #3	39	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
	n	Bending											
Elem. #1	4	4283.56		Stimess of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./r		KIP-III./rau.j							
Elem. #2	4	46.78		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	3624.55		7954.894	32.999	0.01							
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	37.7835	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	66.5176	29000	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331							
Elem. #3	50	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
	n	Bending		Stiffness of Bottom Node									
Elem. #1	4	59.47		ן דע	J <mark>nit: kip-in./rad</mark>	l.]							
Elem. #2	4	240.13		<i>k</i> <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>							
Elem. #3	4	1427.03		1726.635	32.999	0.04							
2 <sup>nd</sup> Co	ompression W	eb Member, I	n-Plane Bucl	kling, Simultan	eously (32LH06	5_L2)							
--------------------	---------------------------	--------------	---------------------	-----------------------------	---------------------------------	---------------------	--	--	--	--	--	--	--
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.06389	0.08917	0.003942								
	Properties of Top Members												
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
	п	Bending		Stiffnagg of T	on Nodo IIInite	lin in /wad l							
Elem. #1	4	49.8382		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit:	kip-in./rau.j							
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.965	41.097	0.01							
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members									
	<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098							
Elem. #3	50	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
	п	Bending											
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node							
Elem. #2	4	46.7764		ח	J <mark>nit: kip-in./rac</mark>	<b>l</b> .]							
Elem. #3	4	1427.0320		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>							
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2628.040	41.097	0.03							

3 <sup>rd</sup> Co	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L2)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{v}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$								
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.043642	0.0672	0.003314								
	Properties of Top Members												
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$							
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
	п	Bending		Stiffnagg of T	on Nodo IIInite	lin in /wad l							
Elem. #1	4	49.8382		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit:	Kip-m./rau.j							
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.97	28.072	0.01							
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members									
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$I_{y}$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )	$J(\text{in.}^4)$							
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
	п	Bending											
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node							
Elem. #2	4	49.8382		[Unit: kip-in./rad.]									
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>							
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2285.16	28.072	0.02							

4 <sup>th</sup> Co	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, In-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L2)												
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_{v}(in^{4})$	$J(in^4)$								
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.024013	0.0672	0.003314								
	Properties of Top Members												
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_{v}(in^{4})$	$J(in^4)$							
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
	n	Bending		S4*66		1							
Elem. #1	4	49.8382		Summess of 1	op Node [Unit:	kip-in./rad.j							
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8616.965	15.446	0.00							
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members									
	L (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_{v}(in^{4})$	$J(in^4)$							
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
	n	Bending											
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiff	ness of Bottom	Node							
Elem. #2	4	49.8382		ון	J <mark>nit: kip-in./rac</mark>	1.]							
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$							
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2285.155	15.446	0.01							

5 <sup>th</sup> Co	mpression V	Veb Member, I	n-Plane Bucl	ding, Simultane	eously (32LH06	_L2)							
<i>L</i> (in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_{v}(in^{4})$	$J(in^4)$								
45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.004977	0.0672	0.003314								
	Properties of Top Members												
	L(in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$								
Elem. #1	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314							
Elem. #2	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
Elem. #3	33	29000	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997							
	n	Bending		64°66	N. J. H. Y.								
Elem. #1	4	116.9152		Stillness of 1	op Node [Unit:	kip-in./rad.j							
Elem. #2	4	4283.5636		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$							
Elem. #3	4	4283.5636		8684.042	3.201	0.001							
		Propert	ies of Bottom	Members									
	L(in.)	E (ksi)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$							
Elem. #1	30.718	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #2	45.0843	29000	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799							
Elem. #3	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
Elem. #4	66	29000	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802							
	n	Bending											
Elem. #1	4	73.1467		Stiffr	ess of Bottom N	lode							
Elem. #2	4	49.8382		ון	Init: kip-in./rad	.]							
Elem. #3	4	1081.0848		$k_{Bottom}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$							
Elem. #4	4	1081.0848		2285.155	3.201	0.003							

<i>K</i> -factors by Hand Calculation Method, 32LH06_L2, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually											
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in/rad.)	G	K							
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Momhar	Тор	83.53	2.19	0.78							
1 web Member	Bottom	304.63	0.60	0.78							
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Mombor	Тор	93.33	1.23	0.72							
2 web Member	Bottom	269.45	0.43	0.75							
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	93.33	0.93	0.71							
5 Web Weinder	Bottom	221.21	0.39	0.71							
1 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	93.33	0.93	0.71							
4 web Welliber	Bottom	221.21	0.39	0.71							
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	214.75	0.40	0.66							
5 web wiember	Bottom	221.21	0.39	0.00							

Г

1 <sup>st</sup>	Con	npression	n Web M	emb	er, Out-of-P	lane Buckling	g, Individual	y (32LH06_1	L2)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$				
35.1083	2	29000	11153.	85	0.1512	0.1107	0.007871				
Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	118.9611		
Elem. #2	2	45.08	2900	0	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	76.0122		
Elem. #3		39	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	298.9611		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	-	0.484	0.875	5		Elem. #1	4	10.13	14616.70		
Elem. #2	(	0.242	0.970	)		Elem. #2	4	0.24	97.75		
Elem. #3	(	0.484	-0.87	5		Elem. #3	4	8.57	12367.98		
	Stiffness at Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad]										
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
6347.21		129997	7460.55		20754.16		83.532	91.440	2.19		
				Pr	operties of <b>B</b>	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	L (in.)	E (ksi	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	31	7.7835	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	64.57		
Elem. #2	60	5.5176	2900	0	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331	91.46		
Elem. #3		50	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	298.96		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.429	0.903	3		Elem. #1	4	0.24	59.47		
Elem. #2	-	0.025	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.39	1161.09		
Elem. #3	(	0.484	-0.87	5		Elem. #3	4	5.53	5846.17		
			Stiff	ness	at Bottom N	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
1387.26		61554	115.29		5685.63		304.629	91.44	0.60		

2 <sup>nd</sup>	Con	npressio	n Web M	lemł	oer, Out-of-P	lane Bucklin	g, Individual	ly (32LH06_	L2)		
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$				
45.0843	2	29000	11153.	85	0.07844	0.08917	0.003942				
Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	45	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023		
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.05		
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.05		
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	-	0.072	0.99	7		Elem. #1	4	0.20	49.84		
Elem. #2	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem. #2	4	10.13	14616.70		
Elem. #3	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	10.13	14616.70		
Stiffness at Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad]											
α			в		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
15672.23		212363	3300.41		13631.47		93.332	57.358	1.23		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers	•			
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.05		
Elem. #2	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	94.10		
Elem. #3		50	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.05		
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.05		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.681	0.732	2		Elem. #1	4	0.29	73.15		
Elem. #2	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #2	4	0.24	97.75		
Elem. #3	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	5.53	5846.17		
Elem. #4	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #4	4	4.19	4428.92		
	Stiffness at Bottom Node [Unit: kip-in./rad]										
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$		
5544.43		25909	647.87		4911.81		269.453	57.358	0.43		

3 <sup>rd</sup>	3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06_L2)									
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$			
45.0843	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314			
				F	Properties of	Top Member	rs			
	1	L (in.) $E$ (ksi)		i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	4:	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023	
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.0512	
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.0512	
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #1	4	0.20	49.84	
Elem. #2	-	0.732	0.68	l		Elem. #2	4	10.13	14616.70	
Elem. #3	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	10.13	14616.70	
Stiffness at Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]										
α		,	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>top</sub>	
15672.23	5	212363	3300.41		13631.47		93.332	43.226	0.93	
	Properties of Bottom Members									
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)	
Elem. #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.0511	
Elem. #2	4	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023	
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.0511	
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.0511	
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending	
Elem. #1	(	0.681	0.732	2		Elem. #1	4	0.29	73.15	
Elem. #2	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #2	4	0.20	49.84	
Elem. #3	-	0.732	0.68	l		Elem. #3	4	4.19	4428.92	
Elem. #4	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #4	4	4.19	4428.92	
Stiffness at Bottom Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]										
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>	
4784.20		19189	610.33		4205.49		221.205	43.226	0.39	

4 <sup>th</sup>	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06_L2)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$				
45.0843	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314				
Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023		
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.0512		
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.0512		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #1	4	0.1976	49.83		
Elem. #2	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Elem. #3	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Stiffness at Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α		,	в		γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
15672.23	3	212363	3300.41		13631.47		93.332	43.226	0.93		
Properties of Bottom Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.0511		
Elem. #2	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023		
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.0511		
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.0511		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	0.681	0.732	2		Elem. #1	4	0.2900	73.15		
Elem. #2	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #2	4	0.1976	49.84		
Elem. #3	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92		
Elem. #4	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92		
			Stiff	iess	at Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>		
4784.20		19189	610.33		4205.49		221.205	43.226	0.39		

5 <sup>th</sup>	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Individually (32LH06_L2)										
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$				
45.0843	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314				
Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem #1	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.04544	0.0672	0.003314	94.1023		
Elem #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.0512		
Elem #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.0512		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem #1	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem #1	4	0.8199	172.90		
Elem #2	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem #2	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Elem #3	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem #3	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Stiffness at Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α		,	в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Top}$		
15673.48	3	212618	3013.26		13753.91		214.746	43.226	0.40		
	Properties of Bottom Members										
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.0511		
Elem #2	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023		
Elem #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.0511		
Elem #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.0511		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem #1	(	0.681	0.732	2		Elem #1	4	0.2900	73.15		
Elem #2	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem #2	4	0.1976	49.84		
Elem #3	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem #3	4	4.1915	4428.92		
Elem #4	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem #4	4	4.1915	4428.92		
	Stiffness at Bottom Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]										
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>		
4784.20		19189	610.33		4205.49		221.205	43.226	0.39		

K-factors by Hand Ca	alculation Method,	32LH06_L2, Out-0	of-Plane Buckling, S	Simultaneously
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in/rad.)	G	K
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	83.53	0.95	0.60
i web Member	Bottom	304.63	0.26	0.09
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	93.33	1.03	0.71
2 web Member	Bottom	269.45	0.36	0.71
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	93.33	0.69	0.67
5 web Member	Bottom	221.21	0.29	0.07
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	93.33	0.30	0.60
4 web Member	Bottom	221.21	0.13	0.00
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	93.33	0.08	0.53
5 web Wenner	Bottom	221.21	0.03	0.33

	15	st Compi	ression V	Veb	Member, Ou	t-of-Plane Bı	ıckling, Simu	ltaneously			
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$				
35.1083	2	9000	11153.	85	0.1512	0.04808	0.007871				
Properties of Top Members											
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	118.9611		
Elem. #2	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	76.0122		
Elem. #3		39	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	298.9611		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			n	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	_	0.484	0.875	5		Elem. #1	4	10.1297	14616.70		
Elem. #2	(	0.242	0.970	)		Elem. #2	4	0.2425	97.75		
Elem. #3	(	0.484	-0.87	5		Elem. #3	4	8.5713	12367.98		
Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]											
α			в		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$		
6347.215		12999	7460.6		20754.2		83.532	39.715	0.95		
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers				
	1	Ĺ (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)		
Elem. #1	37	7.7835	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	64.57		
Elem. #2	66	5.5176	2900	0	11153.85	0.1377	0.6658	0.002331	91.46		
Elem. #3		50	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	298.96		
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending		
Elem. #1	(	).429	0.903	3		Elem. #1	4	0.2358	59.47		
Elem. #2	_	0.025	1.000	)		Elem. #2	4	0.3909	1161.09		
Elem. #3	(	).484	-0.87	5		Elem. #3	4	5.5328	5846.17		
			Stiffi	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]				
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	$(EI/L)_{web}$	$G_{Bottom}$		
1387.26		61554	15.29		5685.63		304.629	39.715	0.26		

2 <sup>nd</sup> C	2 <sup>nd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L2)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$		
45.0843	2	9000	11153.	85	0.07844	0.075	0.003942		
				P	Properties of	Top Member	rs		
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.0512
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.0512
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #1	4	0.1976	49.8382
Elem. #2	-	0.732	0.68	l		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70
Elem. #3	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]								
α		,	в	γ			$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$
15672.23	5	212363	3300.41		13631.47		93.332	48.243	1.03
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers		
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.0511
Elem. #2	45	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01818	0.03799	0.00098	94.1023
Elem. #3		50	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.0511
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.0511
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	).681	0.732	2		Elem. #1	4	0.2900	73.15
Elem. #2	-	-0.072 0.997		7		Elem. #2	4	0.2425	97.75
Elem. #3	-	0.732	0.68	l		Elem. #3	4	5.5328	5846.17
Elem. #4	Elem. #4 0.732 -0.681		1		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92	
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]		
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>
5544.43		25909	647.87		4911.81		269.453	48.243	0.36

3 <sup>rd</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L2)									
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	C (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$		
45.0843	2	9000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0504	0.003314		
				F	Properties of	Top Member	rs		
	1	(in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.0512
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.0512
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	_	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #1	4	0.1976	49.84
Elem. #2	_	0.732	0.68	l		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70
Elem. #3	(	).732	-0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]								
α	β			γ		k <sub>top</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>top</sub>	
15672.23	3	212363	3300.41		13631.47		93.332	32.419	0.69
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers		
	1	(in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.0511
Elem. #2	45	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.0511
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.0511
	с	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	).681	0.732	2		Elem. #1	4	0.2900	73.15
Elem. #2	_	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #2	4	0.1976	49.84
Elem. #3	-0.732 0.681		l		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92	
Elem. #4	(	0.732 -0.681		1		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92
			Stiff	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	p-in./rad.]	1	
α			в		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>
4784.20		19189	610.33		4205.49		221.205	32.419	0.29

4 <sup>th</sup> C	4 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L2)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$		
45.0843	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.0215	0.003314		
				P	Properties of	Top Member	°S		
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.0512
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.0512
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #1	4	0.1976	49.8382
Elem. #2	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70
Elem. #3	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]								
α		/	3		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$
15672.23	5	212363	300.41		13631.47		93.332	13.830	0.30
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers		
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.0511
Elem. #2	43	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.0511
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.0511
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	0.681	0.732	2		Elem. #1	4	0.2900	73.15
Elem. #2	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #2	4	0.1976	49.84
Elem. #3	-	0.732	0.68	l		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92
Elem. #4	Elem. #4 0.732 -0.681		1		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92	
	Stiffness of Bottom Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]								
α			3		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{Bottom}$
4784.20		19189	610.33		4205.49		221.205	13.830	0.13

5 <sup>th</sup> C	5 <sup>th</sup> Compression Web Member, Out-of-Plane Buckling, Simultaneously (32LH06_L2)								
<i>L</i> (in.)	E	E (ksi)	G (ks	i)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y$ (in <sup>4</sup> )	$J(in^4)$		
45.0843	2	29000	11153.	85	0.04544	0.006	0.003314		
				P	Properties of	Top Member	°S		
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	4	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023
Elem. #2		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	137.0512
Elem. #3		33	2900	0	11153.85	1.2186	4.1582	0.02997	317.0512
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #1	4	0.1976	49.8382
Elem. #2	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem. #2	4	10.1297	14616.70
Elem. #3	(	0.732	-0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	10.1297	14616.70
	Stiffness of Top Node [Unit: kip-in./rad.]								
α		/	3		γ		$k_{top}$	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	$G_{top}$
15672.23	5	212363	300.41		13631.47		93.332	3.859	0.08
				Pr	operties of B	ottom Memb	ers		
	1	L (in.)	E (ks	i)	G (ksi)	$I_z(in^4)$	$I_y(in^4)$	$J(in^4)$	$\Phi$ (degree)
Elem. #1	3	0.718	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	47.0511
Elem. #2	4	5.0843	2900	0	11153.85	0.01937	0.01937	0.000799	94.1023
Elem. #3		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	137.0511
Elem. #4		66	2900	0	11153.85	0.6151	2.5199	0.024802	317.0511
	c	os(Φ)	sin(Φ	)			п	Torsion	Bending
Elem. #1	(	0.681	0.732	2		Elem. #1	4	0.2900	73.15
Elem. #2	-	0.072	0.997	7		Elem. #2	4	0.1976	49.84
Elem. #3	-	0.732	0.68	1		Elem. #3	4	4.1915	4428.92
Elem. #4	Elem. #4 0.732 -0.681		1		Elem. #4	4	4.1915	4428.92	
			Stiffr	iess	of Bottom No	ode [Unit: kij	o-in./rad.]		
α		/	3		γ		k <sub>Bottom</sub>	(EI/L) <sub>web</sub>	G <sub>Bottom</sub>
4784.20		19189	610.33		4205.49		221.205	3.859	0.03

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for In-Plane Buckling (32LH06_L2)							
Buckling Mode	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web		
	$I_z$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )						
Web	0.03780	0.054908	0.040896	0.018176	0.044544		
Web	0.039312	0.058830	0.043168	0.020448	0.004771		
Web (Control)	0.040824	0.062752	0.045440	0.022720	0.004998		
Top Chord	0.042336	0.066674	0.047712	0.024992	0.005226		
Top Chord	0.043848	0.070596	0.049984	0.027264	0.005453		

Adjusted Moments of Inertia for Out-of-Plane Buckling (32LH06_L2)								
Buckling Mode	1 <sup>st</sup> Web	2 <sup>nd</sup> Web	3 <sup>rd</sup> Web	4 <sup>th</sup> Web	5 <sup>th</sup> Web			
	$I_y$ (in. <sup>4</sup> )							
Web	0.046494	0.062419	0.04368	0.020832	0.005981			
Web	0.047601	0.066878	0.04704	0.021504	0.006048			
Web (Control)	0.048708	0.071336	0.05040	0.022176	0.006115			
Top Chord	0.049815	0.075795	0.05376	0.022848	0.006182			
Top Chord	0.050922	0.080253	0.05712	0.023520	0.006250			

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to Hand Method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32K06_L2)							
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K			
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	7954.894	0.03	0.54			
i web Member	Bottom	1726.635	0.14	0.54			
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	8616.965	0.01	0.51			
2 web Member	Bottom	2628.040	0.04	0.51			
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	8616.965	0.01	0.51			
5 web Member	Bottom	2285.155	0.03	0.51			
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	8616.965	0.01	0.51			
4 web Member	Bottom	2285.155	0.03	0.51			
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	8684.042	0.01	0.51			
5 web Member	Bottom	2285.155	0.03	0.31			

Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)							
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K			
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.03995	35.73	0.51			
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.06389	34.73	0.51			
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.04364	23.99	0.51			
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.02401	13.34	0.50			
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.00498	2.795	0.50			

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)							
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K			
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.15120	117.10	0.55			
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.07844	41.70	0.52			
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.04544	24.68	0.51			
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.04544	24.67	0.51			
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.04544	24.68	0.51			

Details for computing in-plane K-factors according to SEIC method and requiring individual
compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to hand method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)							
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K			
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	7954.894	0.008	0.51			
1 web Member	Bottom	1726.635	0.038	0.31			
2nd Wah Marshan	Тор	8616.965	0.010	0.51			
2 web Member	Bottom	2628.040	0.031	0.51			
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	8616.965	0.007	0.51			
3 web Member	Bottom	2285.155	0.025	0.51			
4 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	8616.965	0.004	0.50			
4 web Member	Bottom	2285.155	0.014	0.50			
5 <sup>th</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	8684.042	0.001	0.50			
5 web Weinder	Bottom	2285.155	0.003	0.30			

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)							
Web Member of interest	L(in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K			
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.039950	35.48	0.51			
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.063890	34.66	0.51			
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.043642	23.95	0.51			
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.024013	13.32	0.50			
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.004977	2.79	0.50			

Details for computing in-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)					
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_z(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.039950	35.23	0.51	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.063890	34.30	0.51	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.043642	23.73	0.51	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.024013	13.27	0.51	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.004977	2.79	0.50	

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to hand method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32K06_L2)					
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	83.53215	2.19	0.79	
i web Member	Bottom	304.6288	0.60	0.78	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mamber	Тор	93.33241	1.23	0.73	
2 web Weinber	Bottom	269.4534	0.43		
2 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	Тор	93.33241	0.93	0.71	
5 web Member	Bottom	221.2053	0.39		
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	93.33241	0.93	0.71	
	Bottom	221.2053	0.39		
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	214.746	0.40	0.66	
	Bottom	221.2053	0.39	0.00	

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)					
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_v(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.04871	22.73	0.71	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.07134	21.28	0.69	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.05040	15.07	0.69	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.02218	8.41	0.61	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.00612	1.78	0.70	

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring individual compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)					
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_v(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(\text{kip})$	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.11070	33.85	0.87	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.08917	21.56	0.76	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.06720	17.86	0.73	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.06720	17.60	0.73	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.06720	19.78	0.69	

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to hand method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)					
Web Member of interest	Location of k	k (kip-in./rad.)	G	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	Тор	83.53215	0.95	0.60	
1 web Member	Bottom	304.6288	0.26	0.09	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Wah Mambar	Тор	93.33241	1.03	0.71	
2 web Member	Bottom	269.4534	0.36		
2 <sup>rd</sup> Wah Mamhar	Тор	93.33241	0.69	0.67	
5 web Member	Bottom	221.2053	0.29	0.07	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	93.33241	0.30	0.60	
	Bottom	221.2053	0.13	0.00	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	Тор	93.33241	0.08	0.52	
	Bottom	221.2053	0.03	0.55	

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to uniformly distributed loading method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)					
Web Member of interest	<i>L</i> (in.)	$I_y(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.0481	21.37	0.72	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0750	20.9	0.71	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0504	14.44	0.70	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0215	8.03	0.61	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0060	1.681	0.71	

Details for computing out-of-plane <i>K</i> -factors according to SEIC method and requiring simultaneous compression web buckling (32LH06_L2)					
Web Member of interest	L(in.)	$I_y(\text{in.}^4)$	$P_{cr}(kip)$	K	
1 <sup>st</sup> Web Member	35.1083	0.0481	18.40	0.78	
2 <sup>nd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0750	18.99	0.75	
3 <sup>rd</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0504	14.35	0.70	
4 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0215	8.13	0.61	
5 <sup>th</sup> Web Member	45.0843	0.0060	2.82	0.55	

## REFERENCES

- American Institute of Steel Construction (2010). Specification for Structural Steel Buildings, 14th edition, Chicago, IL.
- Duan, L. and Chen, W. (1988). "Effective Length Factor for Columns in Braced Frames." J. Struct. Eng., 114(10), 2357-2370.
- Duan, L. and Chen, W. (1989). "Effective Length Factor for Columns in Unbraced Frames." J. Struct. Eng., 115(1), 149-165.
- Emerson, M, (2001). "Stability of Unbraced Steel Joists Subject to Mid-Span Loading," M.S. Thesis, Civ. and Env. Engrg., Bucknell Univ., Lewisburg, PA.
- Johnston, B. G., Ed. (1976). Guide to Stability Design Criteria for Metal Structures. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York, N.Y.
- Julian, O. G., and Lawrence, L. S. (1959). "Notes on J and L nomograms for determination of effective lengths." Unpublished report.
- Kavanagh, T. C. (1962). "Effective length of framed columns." Trans., ASCE, 127(II), 81-101.
- Lu. L. W. (1962), "A survey of literature on the stability of frames." Fritz Laboratory Reports. Paper 1762.
- McGuire, W., Gallagher, R.H., and Ziemian, R.D. (2000), "Matrix Structural Analysis," 2<sup>th</sup> edition, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, NY.
- Nishino, F., AI, M., Tamura, K., and Imai, H., (1999). "Effective Column Lengths in a Rectangular Rigid Frame," J. Struct. Mech. Earthquake Eng., No. 633/ 1-49.
- Schwarz, J, (2002). "Stability of Unbraced Steel Joists Subject to Mid-Span Loading Phase II," M.S. Thesis, Civ. and Env. Engrg., Bucknell Univ., Lewisburg, PA.
- Ziemian, R.D., Ed. (2010). *Guide to Stability Design Criteria for Metal Structures*. 6<sup>th</sup> ed., John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, N.J.
- Steel Joist Institute (2010), Standard Specifications and Load and Weight Tables for Steel Joists and Joist Girders. 43<sup>rd</sup> ed.
- Surovek, A. and Ziemian, R. (2005). "The Direct Analysis Method: Bridging the Gap from Linear Elastic Analysis to Advanced Analysis in Steel Frame Design." ASCE Structures Congress: pp. 1-11.
- Yost, J., Dinehart, D., Gross, S., Pote, J., and Gargan, B. (2004). "Strength and Design of Open Web Steel Joists with Crimped-End Web Members." J. Struct. Eng., 130(5), 715-724.
- Ziemian, R.D., and McGuire, W. (2013) MASTAN2, <www.mastan2.com>